

RESEARCH REPORT 4

Governance of Africa's Resources Programme

June 2009



Seeing the Wood for the Trees:

Forestry Governance in the DRC

Mari-Lise du Preez and Kathryn Sturman

ABOUT SAIIA

The South African Institute of International Affairs (SAIIA) has a long and proud record as South Africa's premier research institute on international issues. It is an independent, non-government thinktank whose key strategic objectives are to make effective input into public policy, and to encourage wider and more informed debate on international affairs with particular emphasis on African issues and concerns. It is both a centre for research excellence and a home for stimulating public engagement. SAIIA's research reports present in-depth, incisive analysis of critical issues in Africa and beyond. Core public policy research themes covered by SAIIA include good governance and democracy; economic policymaking; international security and peace; and new global challenges such as food security, global governance reform and the environment. Please consult our website www.saiia.org,za for further information about SAIIA's work.

ABOUT THE GOVERNANCE OF AFRICA'S RESOURCES PROGRAMME

The Governance of Africa's Resources Programme (GARP) of the South African Institute of International Affairs (SAIIA) is funded by the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs. The programme contributes to policy governing the exploitation and extraction of Africa's natural resources by assessing existing governance regimes and suggesting alternatives to targeted stakeholders. GARP examines the governance of a number of resource-rich African countries within the context of cross-cutting themes such as environmental change and sustainability. Addressing these elements is critical for Africa to avoid deepening the challenges of governance and reducing its vulnerability to related crises, including climate change, energy security and environmental degradation. The programme focuses on the mining, forestry, fisheries and petroleum sectors in four African countries: Tanzania, the DRC, Angola and Sudan.



© SAIIA June 2009

All rights are reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or utilised in any from by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying and recording, or by any information or storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher. Opinions expressed are the responsibility of the individual authors and not of SAIIA.

All photographs: Mari-Lise du Preez and Kathryn Sturman Cover photograph: Lake Tumba at Bikoro, Equateur Province

ISBN: 978-1-919969-69-5

South African Institute of International Affairs Jan Smuts House, East Campus, University of the Witwatersrand PO Box 31596, Braamfontein 2017, Johannesburg, South Africa Tel +27 (0)11 339-2021 • Fax +27 (0)11 339-2154 www.saiia.org.za • info@saiia.org.za

CONTENTS	
About the Authors	4
Foreword	4
Abbreviations and Acronyms	5
Chapter 1 Introduction	6
Chapter 2 Overview of the formal logging sector in the DRC Size and shape of the industry, 2008 'No more loose atoms': Implications of the conversion process for forestry governance	9 10 13
Chapter 3 National policy for forestry governance A vision and a priority agenda From vision and priority agenda to co-ordinated action plan	15 16 17
Chapter 4 Bringing diverse actors together: Examples of network governance	21
Chapter 5 Starting at the roots: A case study of forestry governance in Bikoro, Equateur Province	23
Research question and methods	24
Overview of Bikoro Territory	25
The IUCN forest governance project	25
Challenges for industrial logging in Bikoro Territory	28
Challenges of doing business in Bikoro	30
The 2008/09 global financial crisis	31 32
Squeezed from two sides: Taxes and corporate social responsibility Benefits of the tripartite local governance initiative for the logging companies	32 34
Challenges faced by government in Bikoro Territory	35
Benefits of tripartite forestry governance structures for the local administration	36
Overview of civil society/the local community in Bikoro	37
Challenges faced by civil society/the local community in Bikoro	38
Benefits of tripartite local governance structures for civil society/	
local communities	41
Tripartite structures a model for bottom-up governance? What is beneficial about tripartite structures?	41 42
Chapter 6 Conclusion and recommendations	48
Endnotes	53
	61
Bibliography	01

ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Mari-Lise du Preez is a researcher with SAIIA's Governance of Africa's Resources Programme (GARP), has a masters degree in International Studies from Stellenbosch University and has expertise in the complex interplay between natural systems and social systems. Her current research interests also include marine fisheries and governance theory as it applies to the developing world.

Kathryn Sturman is deputy head of GARP at SAIIA's Cape Town office. She has a doctorate in International Relations from Macquarie University and a masters in Political Studies (Africa) from the University of Cape Town. She has published work on the African Union, regional integration and human security in Africa.

FOREWORD

This case study on forestry governance in the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) forms part of a three-year project entitled Strengthening the Governance of Africa's Natural Resources, conducted by the Governance of Africa's Resources Programme (GARP) of the South African Institute of International Affairs (SAIIA). Funded by the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, it aims to make a significant input into policy governing the exploitation and extraction of Africa's natural resources by assessing existing governance regimes and suggesting alternatives to targeted stakeholders.

The level and quality of governance within key states is central to the developmental trajectory of the entire continent. GARP examines the governance of a number of resourcerich African countries within the context of cross-cutting themes such as environmental change and sustainability issues. Addressing these elements is critical for Africa to avoid deepening the challenges of governance and reducing its vulnerability to related crises, including climate change, energy security and environmental degradation. The programme focuses on four natural resource sectors in four African countries, i.e. mining, forestry, fisheries and petroleum in Tanzania, the DRC, Angola and Sudan.

Based in Cape Town, GARP has partnered with in-country experts with a view to forming an African research network on natural resource governance. Field research for this case study in forestry was conducted by GARP researchers Mari-Lise du Preez and Kathryn Sturman from October 2008 to February 2009. Their research was facilitated by Joël Kiyulu, national co-ordinator for the International Union for Nature Conservation in Kinshasa and Bikoro, whose guidance and assistance throughout the research process is gratefully acknowledged.

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

AFD	French Development Agency
CAF	Country Assistance Framework
CARPE	Central African Regional Programme for the Environment
CBFP	Congo Basin Forest Partnership
CDF	Congolese franc
CDV	Committee for Dialogue and Vigilance
CIFOR	Centre for International Forestry Research
CIM	Inter-Ministerial Commission for the Conversion of Old Forest Titles
COMIFAC	Central African Forests Commission
DRC	Democratic Republic of Congo
EU	European Union
FIB	Industrial Forestry Federation
FLEGT	Forest Law Enforcement, Governance and Trade
FSC	Forest Stewardship Council
GARP	Governance of Africaís Resources Programme
GBP	UK pound
ICG	International Crisis Group
IMF	International Monetary Fund
IUCN	International Union for the Conservation of Nature
MENCT	Ministry of the Environment, Nature Conservation and Tourism
NGO	non-governmental organisation
PAP	Priority Action Plan
PNFoCo	National Programme for Forests and Conservation
PRSP	Poverty Reduction Strategy Programme
REDD	Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Degradation of Forests in Developing Countries
SVBC	Strengthening Voices for Better Choices
UK	United Kingdom
US	United States
USAID	US Agency for International Development
WWF	World Wide Fund for Nature

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Flying over the DRC's Equateur Province is like flying over the sea, except that the unbroken vista below is the dense, dark green colour of trees. At 145 million hectares, forests cover around two-thirds of the DRC's national territory.¹ Second in size only to the Amazon rainforest, the Congo rainforest is not only of national importance, but of global significance too. Tropical rainforests play a vital role in regulating global weather and mitigating climate change. The protection of such a resource is complicated when it is found within the borders of a *de jure* sovereign state. In a state like the DRC, where *de facto* sovereignty over the territory is weak, many of the real decisions are made at the local level. Governance of the forestry sector is a balancing act of international imperatives, national policies and local realities.

This report begins by identifying the governance challenges that are unique to forests as a natural resource. Contemporary theories of governance are examined, with a 'network governance' approach identified as an appropriate model for the forestry sector. An overview of forestry governance in the DRC follows, providing a descriptive account of the sector and an analysis of national policy and its implementation since 2002. This sets the scene for a case study of forestry governance in Bikoro Territory,² Equateur Province. Conclusions and recommendations are then drawn from the case study and the national policy analysis.

The ways in which tropical rainforests differ from other extractive resources lead to specific governance challenges and opportunities. Firstly, unlike mineral resources, a forest is potentially a renewable resource, but only if exploited sustainably. Secondly, while minerals have little intrinsic value unless extracted from the ground, rainforests have greater value 'in the soil' than they would as firewood or cabinets.

In the DRC, around 40 million people depend directly on the expansive Congo rainforest for their livelihood.³ The forest is rich with biodiversity, which helps regulate one of the world's largest river basins. As such, each tree in a rainforest also forms part of a larger ecosystem. On an even larger scale, tropical rainforests, found only between the Tropics of Capricorn and Cancer, play an essential role in regulating global weather patterns. Of global significance, tropical rainforests store carbon, produce a significant amount of the world's oxygen and slow climate change.⁴ Forests can serve as either carbon sinks or carbon sources. It has been estimated that, at 18% of global emissions, carbon emissions from deforestation exceed that of the global transport sector. It is for these reasons that reducing deforestation and degradation in tropical areas such as the DRC is seen as a high priority mitigation option for slowing climate change.

These characteristics of rainforests require an expansion of the traditional range of considerations related to natural resource governance beyond even that of sustainable exploitation for national benefit. Not least on this expanded list of considerations is the challenge of attaching a value beyond the traditional 'harvested value' to a resource that is a public good, both to those within the DRC and globally. In a country like the DRC, the idea of forest stewardship thus links the local level to national, regional and global imperatives.

Progress in the forestry sector can potentially leverage wider gains in good governance.⁵ Actors in this sector have more experience in addressing governance issues — at the local, national and international levels — than many others.⁶ Thus, while the complexity related to the governance of tropical rainforests poses particular challenges, the lessons learnt could have wider application.

Forestry, in particular, is a sector in which old modes of governance did not work. James Scott explains how, during the 18th and 19th centuries, centralised top-down control of the German forest led to what is called 'Waldsterben', or the death of the forest.⁷ While at first an increasingly ordered and 'scientifically' managed forest led to a growth in the forest area, with time this same approach led to an ecological disaster even as the forest became an inefficient source of timber for human use. Part of this failure can be traced to the early modern European state's view of forests primarily through the fiscal lens of revenue needs, which led to states seeing instead of an actual tree with its vast number of possible uses, an abstract tree representing a volume of lumber or firewood. Related to this was the fact that foresters did not understand the complex ecological web that they were trying to manage.

The old-fashioned approach to governance is described by Bradford DeLong in the following terms: 'people in rooms lined with green silk lay out complicated plans, which are then approved by the politically powerful, implemented with no regard for local conditions of local knowledge, and wind up as disasters.'⁸ The emergence of a hierarchical form of governance has to be understood in the larger context of the centralised state-making initiatives of that period. In the case of forestry, for instance, the German way eventually became the basis for forest governance has been criticised since the 1960s.⁹ Dissatisfaction came to the fore again in 1992 with the failure of deliberations aimed at achieving a global forest convention.¹⁰ As it became clear that natural forest systems do not react well to this kind of centralised control,¹¹ new forms of governance had to be found.

However, if hierarchical governance of forests did not work, neither does pure market governance. A free-for-all could result in a 'tragedy of the commons' scenario, as envisaged in the seminal paper by Garrett Hardin.¹² Fortunately, as some of the leading scholars of common-pool resources argue,13 considerable advances in understanding and managing commons problems have been made since Hardin's article appeared in 1968. It has been shown, for instance, that the tragedy is real, but not inevitable. So too, some examples of users devising long-term, sustainable solutions for governing such resources have served to debunk the argument that the only successful solutions to commons governance are those imposed on users by external authorities.¹⁴ The specific characteristics of a commonpool resource influence the challenges of devising governance regimes. When it comes to a resource such as a forest, the interplay between ecosystems and social systems has led to commons governance increasingly being seen as part of a school of thought labelled 'complex systems' thinking.¹⁵ The complexities relating to challenges of multiple actors (with different, and sometimes competing, interests) at different levels (local through global) were mentioned above. In response to such challenges, forms of multi-stakeholder, multilevel governance, or network governance, have emerged. The goal of this form of governance is to match the complexity of the problem area with a form of organisation that copes better with complexity, i.e. the policy network.¹⁶

One of the fundamental challenges of a network type of governance relates to a revision of the roles and responsibilities of the different actors. While there are no one-size-fits-all blueprints in this world of network governance, in which the type of resource and the context play important roles, some common lessons have been identified. In terms of a revision of the role of the centre (state), for instance, some scholars have described it as that of a conductor that provides strategic vision.¹⁷ This description of the centre as conductor also alludes to a role of co-ordination, another central function in network governance.¹⁸ In addition, a study by the French Development Agency (AFD), critical of prescribing 'good governance' as a panacea, identifies these two concepts (strategic vision and co-ordination) as governance priorities in developing countries.¹⁹

Worldwide, national forest governance initiatives increasingly combine top-down goals with bottom-up implementation. With such initiatives, while the centre provides the framework and is broadly responsible for the 'what', the 'how' is specified at local level. This is in line with governance theory, which recognises that societies generate order through both central decision making (top-down control) and local (horizontal) interaction.²⁰ Often, network governance entails not only bottom-up implementation, but also creates space for stakeholder input in the policymaking process, hence the term 'policy networks'.²¹ Multi-stakeholder, multilevel network governance processes therefore require effective communication channels among actors and the different levels, or, as it has been labelled, 'vertical and horizontal linkages'.²²

Having identified network governance as the contemporary best practice for forestry governance, the report now turns to the specific context of this sector in the DRC.

CHAPTER 2

OVERVIEW OF THE FORMAL LOGGING SECTOR

Loads through a vast country without passable roads. The industry has historically been, and remains, small when compared to operations in other Central and West African countries such as Cameroon, Gabon and Ghana. Infrastructure development of roads and river transport is the missing ingredient for a viable logging industry in the DRC and, conversely, the greatest threat to its forests. Better transport would facilitate intensified industrial logging and open markets for charcoal production, which is an especially destructive artisanal activity.

The Congo River has been the most important conduit of logs, with heavier species loaded on boats and lighter wood bundled into rafts. Commercial logging began in the 1930s close to the port of Matadi, for ease of shipping to Europe. The surrounding forests of Bas-Congo were exhausted in the 20th century, and operations shifted to the interior. River ports like Mbandaka, Lisala and Bumba in Equateur Province and Kisangani, the capital of Orientale Province, were transport hubs and centres for trade.

Post-independence logging was unregulated to the extent that legislators drafting a new Forest Code in 2002 had to refer back to colonial law from 1949. The Inter-ministerial Commission for the Conversion of Old Forest Titles (CIM), set up in 2006 to review the sector, had to look back even further in Belgian archives to find the original ordinance for commercial logging in the Congo, dated 1887.²³ A number of logging companies were established after 1970 during the Mobutu era. The largest of these was the state-owned FORESCOM, which was part-owned by Belgian, then later by Canadian, interests. The German timber company Danzer built a timber-processing plant in Maluku in 1976, which was the largest in Africa at the time.²⁴ Danzer expanded logging operations in the DRC through its subsidiary company, SIFORCO. By the mid-1990s official figures recorded peak annual exports of 240 000m³ of timber from the DRC.²⁵

Between 1997 and 2002 production ground to a halt as 'war imposed a very effective logging ban'.²⁶ Field researchers in the forests of Equateur and Orientale in 1999 and 2000 noted that river transport to Kisangani had ceased and other bustling towns along the river had gone quiet.²⁷ Rebel groups controlled the greater part of the tropical rainforests in the north and east of the country. Although this put a stop to formal logging, the war drove millions of displaced people into the forests, with serious consequences of deforestation for fuel wood.²⁸ Some forest concessions were operated during the war in the government-controlled areas of Bas-Congo and Bandundu, and along the river south of Mbandaka in Equateur. But only four of the 20 logging companies operating in Bas-Congo in the 1990s were still there by 2002.²⁹

A surge of investment interest in the sector followed International Monetary Fund (IMF) and World Bank recovery plans for the DRC, which identified timber as a valuable commodity alongside diamonds, gold, copper, oil and other minerals with the potential to

drive economic growth through resource extraction. Increased demand for tropical timber was part of the commodities boom that accelerated growth in Africa from 2003 to 2008.³⁰

Production of timber in DRC	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007
Logs	130	155	180	205	205
Sawn wood	61	72	83	94	94
Veneer	1	1	1	3	3
Plywood	1	1	1	1	1
Export of timber from DRC	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007
Logs	58	110	144	178	178
Sawn wood	20	26	42	69	69
Veneer	1	1	1	2	2
Plywood	0	0	0	0	0

Table 1: Increases in production of and export of timber from the DRC (1 000m³), 2003–07

Source: ITTO, op. cit.

Yet the non-commercial value of tropical rainforests required a different form of governance for logging than for other extractive industries, as explained above. Policymakers across the spectrum from environmentalists to the World Bank agreed on the need to cancel many of the existing logging titles and to stop issuing new titles until after a comprehensive sector review. The ability of the new Congolese government to uphold such a ban was weak, however. The 2002 moratorium on new forestry titles did not prevent over a hundred concessions being granted thereafter, some of which were 'swaps' of unproductive forest areas for new, higher quality areas.³¹ When new contracts were granted in breach of the moratorium, the moratorium was reconfirmed by presidential decree in 2005.³² Production and export figures in the logging sector continued to rise from 2003 to 2007, reflecting timber's place in the commodities boom in the DRC.

SIZE AND SHAPE OF THE INDUSTRY, 2008

For a current snapshot of the logging industry in the DRC, the data provided by the title conversion process of the CIM is informative. From 2006 to 2008 the CIM received applications for 156 concessions owned by 76 companies and individuals. These concessions were situated primarily in Equateur Province (70 concessions), Bandundu (36) and Orientale (30), and a few in Bas-Congo (17) and Kasai (4). Only 15 of these companies owned three or more logging titles (see Table 2). The majority owned one or two concessions each, many of which were merely 'paper concessions' by the end of the war, where production had ceased or the title was obtained for speculative purposes.³³

Top 15 companies 2006 (pre-conversion)	Number of hectares	Top 15 companies 2009 (post-conversion)	Number of hectares
NST Group*	4 662 902	NST Group*	4 576 422
SIFORCO	1 927 726	SIFORCO	1 927 726
TRANS-M	746 000	SEDAF	668 033
SEDAF	668 033	SICOBOIS	394 750
ITB**	665 904	La Forestière	376 764
Amb Nkema Liloo	593 280	ITB**	371 140
La Forestière du Lac	556 064	SAFBOIS	334 700
MOTEMA	500 000	SOEXFORCO	229 476
COCAF	475 300	SCIBOIS	229 400
Lumoo Emile	452 336	La Forestière du Lac	179 300
Reserve Strategique	421 978	Maison NBK Service	137 064
SICOBOIS	394 750	Compagnie des Bois	120 000
LEDYA	373 000	ONATRA	74 023
SOCIBEX	367 000	ENRA	52 192
CFBC	358 000	Riba Congo	48 256
Others (58 title holders)	9 870 813		

Table 2: Top 15 logging companies in the DRC before (2006) and after (2009), the forest title review

* SODEFOR, CFT, FORABOLA and SOFORMA.

** See the discussion of ITB in the case study of forestry governance in Bikoro Territory in Chapter 5, below.

Source: CIM documents; Communiqué Officiel No. 4973/CAB/MIN/ECN-T/15/JEB/2008; *Rapport de l'OI sur les travaux de la CIM: Examen des recours*, 14 January 2009.

What is apparent from the CIM's figures is that the logging industry in the DRC is dominated by five companies, four of which belong to the Lichtenstein-listed Nord-Sud Timber (NST) Group. These are SODEFOR, SOFORMA, FORABOLA and CFT. The largest is SODEFOR, which 'inherited' the parastatal FORESCOM when it was privatised in 1994.³⁴ All 16 of SODEFOR's concessions were converted following the results of the appeal process announced in January 2009. The second-largest player in the industry, Danzer Group subsidiary SIFORCO, has nine concessions, all of which were converted into 25-year titles.

The effect of the forest title conversion process has been to concentrate the logging sector into even fewer hands. Of the original 76 title holders, only 18 retained their concessions. As a percentage share of these titles, SODEFOR therefore went from owning one tenth to owning one quarter of the total number of logging concessions. The NST Group as a whole went from owning 24% to now owning 57% of the concessions in the logging sector. SIFORCO's share increased from 6% to 14% of the total concessions. Nine of the 15 biggest players — those with three or more concessions each — had most or all of their titles converted. Two smaller international companies, the American- and Belgian-owned SAFBOIS and the French-owned SCIBOIS, also made the final list of conversions, as did the state transport company ONATRA.

The largest company to have all its concessions cancelled was TRANS-M. This company was established in 2003 as part of the Lebanese-owned CONGOFUTUR Group.³⁵ It obtained three concessions in Equateur and Orientale Provinces during the post-moratorium period, although a case study of the company points out that 'their post-moratorium strategy [was] the same as the one used by many companies exploiting wood in the DRC: they inherit a site [from another company]'.³⁶ At the time of writing, TRANS-M was one of two companies that 'might still get onto the list' of converted titles, in recognition of its investment in the DRC.³⁷ The other company was ITB, which is examined in detail in the case study of forestry governance in Bikoro Territory. At the time of writing, a presidential decree on foreign investment in the DRC was expected to override the decisions of the CIM in respect of these foreign-owned companies.³⁸

Figure 1: % of total of companies' logging concessions, 2006



Figure 2: Companies' share of total logging concessions, 2009



'NO MORE LOOSE ATOMS': IMPLICATIONS OF THE CONVERSION PROCESS FOR FORESTRY GOVERNANCE

The concentration of the logging industry in the DRC will affect governance of the sector in several respects. These implications will become clearer as the decisions of the CIM are implemented beyond the corridors of the Ministry of the Environment, Nature Conservation and Tourism (MENCT) in Kinshasa, i.e. on the concessions themselves in remote territories of Equateur and Orientale Provinces (among others). The potential for conflict arising from job losses or the loss of the benefits that companies provided to local communities exists, although this will be ameliorated by the fact that many of the cancellations were of 'paper concessions'. At the same time, some gains should be made, as the few remaining companies have to negotiate new, more structured *cahiers de charges* (corporate social responsibility agreements) with local communities before logging activities may begin or resume.

It should be easier for the Congolese government to monitor the activities of a few well-organised logging industry players than a more diverse, disorganised sector. This argument was made by the secretary-general of the Industrial Forestry Federation (FIB), who quoted the minister of the environment, nature conservation and tourism, José Endundu, as saying that he wants 'no more loose atoms' in the sector. This was interpreted to mean not only that the many smaller operators should be shut down, but that all the remaining concessions should belong to members of the FIB 'syndicate'.³⁹ Certainly, the logistics of gathering information from and communicating with the logging industry in the DRC have been improved by this process.

Better governance of forestry in the DRC goes beyond simply monitoring and communicating with logging companies, however. It requires the enforcement of forestry policy, particularly when it is in conflict with commercial timber interests. The more concentrated, streamlined and organised logging industry in the DRC in 2009 is in a more powerful position to defend these interests than ever before. A coalition of international non-governmental organisations (NGOs), including Greenpeace, Global Witness and the Rainforest Foundation, has focused attention on how the forest title conversion process has consolidated the position of large, international logging companies in the DRC.⁴⁰

In their defence, the larger international companies argue that sustainable forest management is very much part of their long-term interests.⁴¹ Those that remain in the sector are under greater pressure to adopt self-regulation strategies than the smaller, mostly local companies that have lost their concessions. The two largest, SODEFOR and SIFORCO, have taken steps to comply with the timber certification process of the Forest Stewardship Council. Ironically, this compliance has been in response to consumer pressure from (primarily) European markets for certified sustainable timber products, which in turn followed the awareness campaigns of environmental NGOs. This demonstrates the point that the larger, international logging companies are more responsive to forestry governance initiatives than the smaller companies and individuals whose concessions were cancelled by the CIM.

Just as the war proved to be a more effective constraint on logging in the DRC than the moratorium imposed thereafter, the global financial crisis plunged the logging industry into crisis towards the end of 2008. Demand for tropical timber dropped in concert with falling housing markets and construction, while at the same time credit dried up for

GOVERNANCE OF AFRICA'S RESOURCES PROGRAMME

timber buyers, particularly in the US and Europe. A general picture of the effects on the DRC's logging industry was not yet available at the time of writing.⁴² The case study of Bikoro provides anecdotal evidence of the economic downturn in this sector from logging companies working in this area.

CHAPTER 3

NATIONAL POLICY FOR FORESTRY GOVERNANCE

Even as a space for industrial logging remains, the fact that the public goods value of forests stretches from the local level to the global indicates the multi-use, multi-level significance of the resource. Around 40 million people depend directly on the expansive Congo rainforest for needs ranging from protein, medicine, energy and materials to cash income. Bush meat is a vital source of food in the DRC, with the Congolese consuming an estimated 1.1 to 1.7 million tonnes each year.⁴³ Informal loggers serve the domestic market's need for fuel in a country where wood and charcoal provides 80% of all domestic energy consumed.⁴⁴ Recent information has indicated that artisanal timber and derivative products are also being exported to neighbouring countries, including to Angola via the port of Boma and to Uganda, Kenya and Rwanda via Beni and Goma.⁴⁵ The prevalence of slash-and-burn agriculture in this forest-rich land furthermore attests the need for co-ordination between the agricultural and forest sectors.

The multi-stakeholder nature of the forest sector is an important consideration. In addition to the usual forest stakeholders, the fact that by 2006/07 at least 60% of the DRC's budget came from donor funding⁴⁶ means that the influence of donor states, with their related organisations and programmes, is considerable. These different actors have different, and often competing, interests. In terms of forest governance in the DRC, actors that have a stake in the way the forest is used include at least the following (with their interests in brackets):

- **government** (revenues from industrial logging and from the sale of non-timber forest products; sustainable development; conservation; income from alternative finance mechanisms, including future carbon market potential);
- formal logging companies (profit versus extortionate costs/taxes and low demand/ prices);
- **local communities/informal logging** (sustainable livelihoods and non-timber forest products; a share of the income from logging, non-timber forest products and alternative finance mechanisms); and
- **conservationists** (preservation of biodiversity; preventing deforestation and climate change).

The following section outlines how national forestry policy in the DRC has addressed these different interests. In the context of earlier discussions (see 'Introduction', above), the section looks specifically at the role of the 'centre' in network governance, focusing on the strategic vision for forestry in the DRC and how that vision is translated into a co-ordinated action plan.

A VISION AND A PRIORITY AGENDA

Like the other sectors of government in the DRC, there is a legacy of mismanagement in forestry. As mentioned, forest regulation up until 2002 consisted of a colonial decree of April 1949, which, as it became obsolete, was replaced by *The Logger's Guide*, a technical document with no clear legal status. Many of the logging contracts signed before and during the war were problematic: most were speculative, concluded without consideration to the real value(s) of the resource, and without consultation. Furthermore, the logging areas specified in the contracts often overlapped with villages, farmland and biodiversity hotspots.⁴⁷ With fragile peace on the horizon, the need for a clean-up of this sector became apparent. One of the first steps of this process was the creation of a new forest code.

The 2002 Forest Code, written with the assistance of the World Bank, sets out a broad vision for forests in the DRC. Like many other countries that rewrote their forest codes in the 1990s and early 2000s,⁴⁸ the DRC defined the functions of forests in terms of both local and national needs.⁴⁹ In addition to maintaining the traditional rights of local communities, the Code makes provision for stakeholder involvement and consultation. Given the different interests at play, for governance to succeed, goals cannot be framed in mutually exclusive terms. The 2002 Forest Code, with its provision for exploitation ('permanent production forests'), conservation ('gazetted forests'), and community and alternative forest uses ('protected forests'), takes cognisance of this.

As befits a state that contains half of the second-largest rainforest in the world, part of the government's vision also entails that the DRC positions itself as a provider of environmental services to the global community. This approach is reaffirmed by a set of international policies referred to as REDD (Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Degradation of Forests in Developing Countries). In addition to seeing REDD as the forest mitigation option with the largest and most immediate carbon stock impact, the Stern Review on the economics of climate change argues that it is a highly cost-effective way of reducing greenhouse gas emissions.⁵⁰ Solutions of the kind suggested by REDD have been labelled 'alternative (or innovative) finance mechanisms'. The nuts and bolts of most of these alternative solutions are still in the process of being debated and negotiated, with the current focus being the development of pilot schemes.⁵¹

In summary, the DRC's Forest Code of 2002 has been described as having three axes:

- 1 properly regulated industrial exploitation;
- 2 decentralisation and community involvement in forest governance; and
- 3 the safeguarding of biodiversity and the provision of environmental services.⁵²

The DRC's vision therefore encompasses both extractive and non-extractive uses for its forests. This is a significant shift in policy for the country. The Forest Code has been commended for acting as a 'first building block in what was essentially an almost complete legal vacuum'.⁵³ In addition to its broad vision, the Code provides for about thirty decrees to be adopted by government to allow for more specific regulation of the sector. Despite the changes mentioned above, in terms of relative weight attached to the different aspects of the vision, both the Code and the decrees passed to date have come under fire for being skewed in favour of regulating industrial logging,⁵⁴ thus risking (re-)creating the basis for the industrialisation of the DRC's forests.

Following the adoption of the 2002 Forest Code, a priority agenda for the relaunch of the forest sector was adopted as well. The priority agenda has the twin aims of implementing corrective and preventive measures to deal with the legacy of the past, and regulating the relaunch of the industrial logging sector. It also deals with measures that have to be taken to develop and implement a broader vision for multipurpose forest use, including such measures as participatory zoning, promoting non-extractive forest use and innovative finance mechanisms, and the rehabilitation of protected areas. Lastly, the priority agenda requires a rebuilding of institutions and a strengthening of national leadership.⁵⁵

At first glance, the actions flowing from the priority agenda seem to have slowed down the relaunch of the sector. This was not welcomed by all, as attested by the explanation by a representative in the MENCT of a disagreement between some in the government and the World Bank on the speed of relaunching the logging sector.⁵⁶ In the DRC, as in other high forest cover developing countries, forests tend to be seen largely through the lens of economic development.⁵⁷ This is borne out by the prominent role that the forestry sector is expected to play in the economic revival of the DRC.⁵⁸ This pressure is exacerbated in a post-conflict state where the government is seeking to reactivate the economy to keep the country from falling back into war.⁵⁹ Until very recently (as recently as pre-Forest Code 2002), the Congolese state (the legal owner of the forest) viewed the forest primarily through the fiscal lens of revenue needs. The idea of payment for environmental services is still a novel one. It has yet to find currency at the national level or among those who live in and depend on the forest; i.e. those who make the day-to-day decisions about forest use. At this stage, the benefits at the local level still seem uncertain compared to such tangibles as hospitals, schools and roads provided by logging companies. In addition, the local level will be wary if the benefits from the provision of environmental services are meant to flow to them via the 'black hole' of Kinshasa.⁶⁰

A representative in the MENCT admitted that the ideas of conservation concessions and community concessions as formal alternatives to logging concessions are new too.⁶¹ He explained that such texts had to be drafted with caution, as some of these ideas run the risk of being seen as being imposed from outside. That being said, it remains important for development partners to support efforts for conservation and environmental services in a sector of global significance that has to function in a country facing many immediate development needs.⁶² Added to these challenges is a ministry that displays effective political leadership and will, but is faced with a small budget and weak capacity. Network governance has the potential to incorporate the different kinds of knowledge and skills brought by the different actors. Yet the challenge of a co-ordinated action plan remains.

FROM VISION AND PRIORITY AGENDA TO CO-ORDINATED ACTION PLAN

Within the MENCT, the National Programme for Forestry and Nature Conservation (*Le Programme National Forêts et Conservation de la Nature* — PNFoCo) is the arm responsible for translating the vision for forestry into strategic priorities and a plan of action. PNFoCo has two broad objectives and four specific ones, namely:⁶³

- ensuring the legal, sustainable management of forest and fauna resources; and
- contributing to socio-economic development and poverty reduction in the DRC by, more specifically:
 - 1 ensuring that forests designated for commercial exploitation fulfil their economic, social and ecological functions, for the benefit of all;
 - 2 ensuring that forests reserved for local and indigenous people fulfil their economic, social and environmental functions for the benefit of rural communities by, among other things, enabling the active participation of stakeholders (including the public sector, local communities, the private sector and NGOs) in forest management, so enhancing legitimacy;
 - 3 ensuring that areas set aside for the preservation of biodiversity (the protected area network) provide environmental and social services in a larger proportion of the national territory; and
 - 4 enhancing the capacity of the forestry administration to implement the Forest Code.

To accelerate the achievement of these objectives, PNFoCo has developed a 10-year operational programme based on the following six components:

- 1 institutional reinforcement;
- 2 cross-cutting support for participatory zoning and popularisation of the Forest Code;
- 3 nature conservation;
- 4 management and control of production forests;
- 5 rural (community) forestry; and
- 6 the environment.

From time to time, each of these components is updated in terms of the current state of affairs (including progress made and challenges faced), the activities to be undertaken, who has the responsibility for implementation, what the expected results are, and who the supporting partners are. The operational programme provides the strategic framework within which donor contributions are channelled. This feeds into a plan of action for the sector.

A programmatic approach, like PNFoCo, that translates its objectives into an operational plan is in line with the Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness, and in particular with the commitment to the goal of the harmonisation of donor initiatives.⁶⁴ The indicators of progress towards this goal include the creation of a formalised process for donor co-ordination. Such a process has been identified as particularly important in fragile states like the DRC,⁶⁵ where, as mentioned, at least 60% of the state budget consists of donor funding.⁶⁶ In the DRC, a donor co-ordination process was formalised in the Country Assistance Framework (CAF) started in 2007. The CAF aligns its action matrices to the five pillars (*cinq chantiers*) of the DRC's Poverty Reduction Strategy Programme (PRSP). A Priority Action Plan (PAP) was prepared, and the Ministry of Planning was designated as being responsible for overseeing its implementation. To co-ordinate the implementation of the PAP, 15 thematic groups (*groupes thématiques* or clusters) were established.⁶⁷

The broad aim of the thematic groups is to create a formal framework for consultation and dialogue among the relevant ministries, non-state actors (including civil society and the private sector) and development partners. It also serves the specific objective of co-ordinating the actions of government and development partners in pursuit of the DRC's PRSP.⁶⁸ As such, the thematic groups are organised around the five pillars of the PRSP, with group 13 (GT13) on the environment, water, sanitation and forestry falling under the pillar of social services.⁶⁹ For increased efficiency, the group was split into two subgroups, one on water and sanitation (SG1) and one on forests and the environment (SG2).

According to the explanation above, the success or otherwise of donor co-ordination therefore starts with the thematic groups.⁷⁰ Despite broad criticisms levelled at attempts at aid co-ordination after the Paris Declaration⁷¹ and despite the fact that in most sectors of the DRC co-ordination still seems problematic,⁷² central co-ordination in the forestry sector has been relatively successful.⁷³ When pressed for explanations for this, all the development partner representatives interviewed attributed the relative success to good leadership,⁷⁴ starting with the minister of the environment, nature conservation and tourism and chairman of the thematic group, José Endundu Bononge, and the senior management in the MENCT. In the case of the forestry sector, both the MENCT and the development partners have embraced the idea of the thematic group.⁷⁵ This engagement of both development partners and public actors in the strategic co-ordination process is the first factor that contributes to its success.⁷⁶

The team leader of the thematic group dealing with forestry, Victor Kabengele of the MENCT, also pointed to the importance of regular meetings held by the group: each subgroup would meet six times a year and the bigger thematic group three times a year. Regular meetings are important for building trust and 'keeping the spirit of the group alive'.⁷⁷ With increased trust come increased opportunities for information sharing and co-operation. So, for instance, after taking some time to get off the ground,⁷⁸ a multidonor trust fund for the DRC forest sector established by the European Union (EU), Belgium, France, the UK and Luxembourg recently got off to a good start.

Funding for the rehabilitation of the MENCT is supplemented by personnel, as attested by the important role played by technical experts from the development partners in the MENCT. Although many challenges remain, the national level of forestry governance has benefitted from this attention to capacity building within the ministry.

Rainforests do not grow in isolation from the rest of the DRC, of course. Governance of the forests is intricately linked to other sectors, including mining, agriculture, finance and transport. In the language of the PRSP, the thematic subgroup on the environment and forestry is related to the other thematic groups, and in particular to at least the four thematic groups on governance (GT1–4), the group on infrastructure and transport (GT5), the group on energy (GT6), the group on mining and hydrocarbons (GT7), the group on agriculture and rural development (GT8), and the group on industry and services (GT9). Although a system for state-wide donor co-ordination is in place, intersectoral co-ordination remains problematic.⁷⁹ The responsibility for intersectoral donor co-ordination lies with the Ministry of Planning and with the last thematic group (GT15 *transversal*).⁸⁰

Improved co-ordination by the Ministry of Planning would, however, only solve a small part of the problem. Many of these sectors face serious challenges, starting with a lack of strategic vision and co-ordination within the individual sectors.⁸¹ So, for

instance, numerous agencies are responsible for macroeconomic planning, with little to no co-ordination among them.⁸² Another example of this challenge is to be found in the area of fiscal management. Intersectoral co-ordination between revenue agencies (plural) and natural resource sectors is a cross-cutting challenge, as illustrated in the case study with an anecdote about 'mixed messages' sent from different arms of government (tax collectors versus the MENCT) to the logging company LEDYA. Improving intersectoral co-ordination between forestry and related sectors is a major challenge that will have to be dealt with by first improving intrasectoral vision and co-ordination within each of these sectors.

CHAPTER 4

BRINGING DIVERSE ACTORS TOGETHER: EXAMPLES OF NETWORK GOVERNANCE

Most forestry governance initiatives in the DRC are of the multi-stakeholder kind, involving government and/or civil society/communities representatives and/or the private sector. There are various examples of this.

- 1 The Forest Stewardship Council (FSC), an international voluntary certification scheme for sustainable forestry, includes members from the private sector and civil society. The FSC was set up by these actors in reaction to the lack of progress in the international intergovernmental processes for sustainable forest use.⁸³ In response to the FSC, other certification schemes have been set up by the logging sector, largely with the support of their governments.⁸⁴ Among initiatives for sustainable logging, the FSC is unique in the way it balances its power among partners. The General Assembly of FSC Members consists of three chambers (economic, social and environmental), each of which has a third of the votes. Within each chamber, representatives from 'Southern' and 'Northern' countries each also have half of the votes.⁸⁵
- 2 The USAID-funded Central African Regional Programme for the Environment (CARPE), focuses on both the subregional (ecosystems, landscapes) and country levels. CARPE is a 20-year initiative that began in 1995. It involves six countries and 11 ecologically significant landscapes. CARPE's vision is to 'reduce the rate of forest degradation and loss of biodiversity through increased local, national and regional natural resource management capacity'.⁸⁶ While its main aim is conservation, CARPE also sees commercial forestry as a significant development opportunity. Its definition of conservation is therefore not preservation, but sustainable use.⁸⁷ In the implementation of its vision, CARPE stresses the importance of proper land-use planning, which would provide for different priority uses, including permanent production (extractive) zones, protected zones and community zones. Ultimately, CARPE sees one of the biggest challenges of natural resource management across the Congo Basin as the 're-establishment of resource systems in which local people have tenure over the land, based on the ethic of self-regulation, to maintain the resource base they need and where un-regulated commercial off-take by outsiders is prevented'.⁸⁸ The International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) runs the CARPE governance component, which focuses on national policy reform, as well as building local NGO capacity.⁸⁹
- 3 The Congo Basin Forest Partnership (CBFP) was launched with the UN Commission on Sustainable Development at the 2002 World Summit on Sustainable Development. It is a voluntary multi-stakeholder initiative that contributes to the implementation of the Yaoundé Declaration, an intergovernmental commitment. This declaration also provided the legal basis for the Central African Forests Commission (COMIFAC), the

regional body in charge of forests and the environment. Members of the CBFP include the 10 member states of the COMIFAC, donor agencies, NGOs, scientific institutions and representatives from the private sector. In the spirit of the Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness, the objective of the partnership is 'to raise the effectiveness of the partners' programmes and initiatives through improved communication and collaboration'.⁹⁰ As such, the CBFP plays a meta-governance role, defined as 'strategic steering and coordination in the governance system'.⁹¹ The CBFP is supported by the multidonor Congo Basin Forest Fund, initially financed by a GBP 100 million grant from the Norwegian and British governments.⁹²

As can be seen from the above, there is a realisation within these initiatives that, in order for governance to succeed, the different interests and goals (mentioned earlier) cannot be framed in mutually exclusive terms. This leads to situations where traditional conservation NGOs will sometimes engage companies on sustainable logging practices, and companies will, in turn, increasingly feel the pressure to engage communities on issues of development. So, for instance, the national contact person for FSC certification in the DRC also works for Greenpeace. In a country, and a sector, faced with serious capacity constraints, such a 'wearing of multiple hats' is common. Despite this situation, it would be dangerous to assume that the different stakeholders have the same end goal in mind, or even, considering the different interests and power relations at play, that their interests are compatible.

Despite examples of regional co-ordination like the CBFP, mentioned above, it has been argued that the global forest governance landscape is characterised by an overall lack of co-ordination, i.e. that there are insufficient strategic links among initiatives.⁹³ At this stage it should be clear that, in order to avoid a spaghetti bowl of initiatives, the need exists for an overarching vision, as well as efforts for ensuring that the actions of the different actors are co-ordinated in pursuit of this vision. It is not within the scope of this study, nor for a single actor, to undertake such co-ordination; however, a network approach to governance is a useful starting point.

CHAPTER 5

STARTING AT THE ROOTS:

A CASE STUDY OF FORESTRY GOVERNANCE IN BIKORO, EQUATEUR PROVINCE

The vast dimensions of the DRC's forests and the complexity of forest governance issues outlined above motivate for a case study approach in a report of this size and scope. National forestry policy is relatively accessible. The challenge is to know what happens beyond the corridors of the MENCT, and the press conferences and international workshops held in Kinshasa. For example, the forest title conversion documents and responses of international organisations and NGOs have been widely circulated and published on the Internet. Less well known is how laws, regulations and decisions are implemented 'on the ground', or, rather, 'in the forest'.

The local level is a crucial level of governance for the forests, for it is here where trees are harvested for timber or fuel, where caterpillars and mushrooms are collected for food, and where people's livelihoods come into direct conflict with one another. The aim of this case study is to focus narrowly on a single territory of the DRC: Bikoro Territory in Equateur Province. It is to assess how national forest policy relates to local practice on industrial logging concessions and in the remote towns and villages of forest-dependent communities.

Bikoro was chosen as a case study in local forest governance for three reasons:

- the primacy of the forest to commercial and subsistence activities of the area;
- the location of industrial logging concessions belonging to three different companies in relatively close proximity within the area; and
- the existence of a multi-stakeholder local forestry governance project in the area.

An EU–funded IUCN project has been establishing local forestry governance structures in Bikoro Territory since 2007 (see Box 1 on page 27, for a description of these structures). The IUCN project provided access to a range of stakeholders in forest governance at the local level. Moreover, it offered an opportunity to study relations among these actors participating in the project through observing the interaction of logging company staff, local community representatives, local administrators, NGOs and the church (representing civil society). Interviews with these actors were made possible by the facilitation of IUCN national co-ordinator, Joël Kiyulu.

RESEARCH QUESTION AND METHODS

The research question guiding the case study was as follows:

To what extent can local-level tripartite structures promote co-operation among forest-dependent communities, civil society, local government and the private sector to ensure the better governance of forests in the DRC?

The research methods of the case study consisted of semi-structured interviews following two lines of enquiry: (1) What are the challenges faced by the company, community or administration represented by the interviewee? and (2) How has participation in the IUCN project helped to overcome these challenges? In addition to individual interviews, research was conducted through observation of one informal and two formal meetings of local community representatives, company officials, local administrators and civil society. Field research was conducted during February 2009, with visits to two logging concessions, three company offices (in Kinshasa and Bikoro), the transportation depot of ITB, the local administration office and residence, two secondary schools, mission stations in Bikoro and Itipo, and the site of the IUCN forestry governance centre in Bikoro.

This section is structured so as to profile the challenges faced by the various stakeholders in forestry in Bikoro, namely, logging companies, local communities, government officials, the church and NGOs. This includes an assessment of the impact of the forestry title conversion process and consideration of the impact of the global financial crisis; whether falling demand for timber products has affected the local logging industry; and, consequently, forestry governance in Bikoro. The participation of each of these stakeholders and the benefits of this participation in the IUCN project are then assessed.



Pirogues on the Congo River at Mbandaka

SAIIA RESEARCH REPORT NUMBER 4

OVERVIEW OF BIKORO TERRITORY

Bikoro is a rural town situated on the shore of Lake Tumba in the densely forested southwest of Equateur Province. Lake Tumba is 765km² in extent and flows directly into the Congo River. As part of the low-lying Congo River Basin, Bikoro Territory lies within the largest tract of floodable forest in the world, which 'plays a key role in regulating the climate of Central Africa'.⁹⁴ Cyclical flooding makes the construction and maintenance of roads difficult. Extensive repair work by EU-sponsored teams of workers could be seen during the three-hour drive to Bikoro from the provincial capital, Mbandaka.⁹⁵

The population of Bikoro Territory is a sparse 24 people/km², or an estimated total of 128 000 people.⁹⁶ It is a young population, with more than half under 20 years of age. Farming, fishing and foraging for non-timber forest products are the main occupations, with only 15% of adults in permanent employment in education, local administration or the gendarmerie. These jobs are poorly paid and it is common practice for such people to supplement their incomes by living off the forest and lake. Fish is smoked and sold commercially in Mbandaka, Kinshasa and Brazzaville, although catches are low and certain known species of fish have disappeared from Lake Tumba.⁹⁷ Anecdotal evidence is that mosquito nets have been used for fishing.⁹⁸ This practice tends to catch juvenile fish in an unsustainable manner.

Non-timber forest products include raffia palm and rattan for basket weaving, fruits, mushrooms and caterpillars. Bushmeat such as tortoises and snakes was seen for sale. The town has a hospital and school run by the Catholic diocese of Bikoro, which has had a presence in the town since colonial times (the convent buildings date back to the 1930s). Agriculture is primarily for subsistence, and very little is grown for market. The exception to this rule is a large and bountiful plantation of pineapples, cassava, papaya and other crops overseen by the nuns in Bikoro.⁹⁹

The hospital has three doctors, who are assisted by the local nuns. The hospital is poorly equipped and doctors see an average of 40 patients a day. Between them they deal with surgery, paediatrics, obstetrics and all the other demands of a general hospital. Malaria is a common and serious health threat in the area. Medicines are in short supply, e.g. there are no antiretrovirals available for the treatment of HIV/Aids, and doctors rely on public education through the church, radio and schools to combat sexually transmitted diseases.¹⁰⁰

Bikoro Territory contains mostly older secondary forests, regenerated from harvesting no later than around 1975. Logging in the area is likely to have begun in colonial times, since the Belgian Institut de Recherche Scientifique en Afrique Centrale established a research station in the nearby Mabali Reserve in 1949 to, among other things, 'study the regeneration of low altitude forest following timber extraction'.¹⁰¹ Species of tree harvested include tiama, dabema, afina and wenge, with wenge accounting for 75% of the timber logged in Bikoro Territory.¹⁰²

THE IUCN FOREST GOVERNANCE PROJECT

The IUCN Strengthening Voices for Better Choices (SVBC) initiative is an international project aiming to translate contemporary thinking on forest governance into practice.

GOVERNANCE OF AFRICA'S RESOURCES PROGRAMME

In addition to the DRC, the primarily European Commission-funded SVBC project is implemented in five other countries, i.e. Brazil, Ghana, Tanzania, Sri Lanka and Vietnam. The project was formulated in response to a call for proposals by the European Commission to assist in its Forest Law Enforcement, Governance and Trade (FLEGT) Action Plan.¹⁰³ SVBC works across different scales, from the local (field) level, through the national and regional, to the global. True to its name, the SVBC's primary activity is to support multi-stakeholder dialogues for improved forest governance in the target countries. In pursuit of this goal, the different initiatives in the six target countries focus on 'testing new ways to decrease illegal logging and other predatory activities through multi-stakeholder participation in decisions about forest management'.¹⁰⁴ The project also aims to analyse and disseminate the lessons learnt from the six target countries and their respective pilot projects.



Box 1: SVBC's bottom-up tripartite structures

At the core of the SVBC project in Bikoro are village-level Committees for Dialogue and Vigilance (CDVs). These committees have a remit to monitor forest exploitation, to build relationships between logging companies and surrounding communities, and to draw up and implement local development plans. The committee structure is adaptable, but members usually include local authorities (customary chief and elders), local organisations (including NGOs), traditionally marginalised groups (women, pygmies), members from other spheres of influence (the church, schools, health centres, local opinion leaders), and —

where a CDV stretches across more than one village — members of the relevant '*etuka*' (approximating to a district), 'clan' or village. Traditional conflict resolution mechanisms play an important role in the CDVs, with the customary chief taking responsibility for arbitration.

To date, 32 CDVs consisting of 12–15 members each have been established in the Bikoro Territory. Each committee is responsible for identifying the most pressing issues related to forest governance faced by its community. In addition to the 27 general CDVs, five niche CDVs have been established to consider the following cross-cutting issues: non-timber forest products, artisanal logging, charcoal production, poaching and corporate social responsibility contracts (*cahiers des charges*). These niche CDVs consist of representatives from those village CDVs that consider the particular issue to be pertinent in their respective locations.

At the territorial level, SVBC supports Bikoro's Consultative Council on Forest Governance (*Comité Consultatif*). This structure was created to engage civil society, logging companies and local government in constructive dialogue on forest governance problems and solutions. At the centre of the Consultative Council lies the College Executive, consisting of a representative of each of the stakeholder groups, namely the administration (the position is currently held by the administrator of the Bikoro Territory), the private sector (the position is currently held by a forest engineer from ITB) and civil society (the position is currently held by a priest from the area). The secretariat of the College Executive rotates, with the position currently held by Fr Joseph Mahonde, the civil society representative. From time to time



a bigger general assembly meeting is held where, among other things, specific issues identified by the CDVs are discussed.

At the provincial level, SVBC works with Equateur Province's Network for Good Forest Governance (*Réseau pour la Bonne Gouvernance Forestière*). At this level too the aim is to engage the different stakeholders in constructive dialogue. SVBC takes this same approach to the national level, where SVBC supports a 'national thematic forum for good forest governance'. The aim of this informal structure is to combat the illegal exploitation of forest resources and to strengthen communication among the local, provincial and national levels.

Community representative at a CDV meeting in Bikoro

Sources: IUCN SVBC, op. cit; IUCN SVBC, Premier Assemblée Générale du Comité Consultative sur la Bonne Gouvernance à Bikoro, meeting minutes, 5–6 December 2007; personal communication with Joël Kiyulu, national co-ordinator, IUCN SVBC, DRC, 2008–09. Having outlined the mechanism through which local forestry governance has been established in Bikoro, it is necessary to consider the challenges and roles of the key actors in these institutions in detail.

CHALLENGES FOR INDUSTRIAL LOGGING IN BIKORO TERRITORY

Bikoro offers a view of a cross-section of the logging sector. The three companies operating in the territory are representative of a large (SODEFOR), medium-sized (ITB) and small enterprise (LEDYA). SODEFOR is the industry's giant and obtained two concessions amounting to 86 000ha in 2003, which it has yet to begin logging. The Industries de Transformation de Bois (ITB) has been operating in the territory since 2005 on 294 764ha and has become engaged in local community projects. The company owns a total of 665 904ha of logging concessions in Equateur and Orientale, ranking eighth in size in the logging sector. LEDYA has been logging under the company name of LEDI–TAC since 2005 on a concession of 123 000ha. This is one of two concessions belonging to this Congolese company, which together totalled 373 000ha before the forest title conversion process was finalised.¹⁰⁵

The starting point of the case study was to determine the legal status of these logging concessions in the territory following the forest title conversion process. This initially appeared straightforward from interviews with government officials in Kinshasa, but became less clear once representatives of the companies themselves were interviewed



Ferdinand Mayumbi, LEDYA showing company logo on logging truck at Bikoro

SAIIA RESEARCH REPORT NUMBER 4

in Kinshasa and Bikoro. The information publicised in press conferences and posted on the Internet by the MENCT in October 2008 stated that two of the three companies operating in Bikoro, LEDYA and ITB, had not been successful in their applications for conversion. ITB had appealed against this decision. On 19 January 2009 the results of the appeal process were announced by Environment Minister Endundo. The decision regarding Bikoro concessions was reiterated: that only SODEFOR would be entitled to 25-year logging concessions in this area. In Kinshasa, a senior official within the MENCT confirmed that this decision was final and said that all the companies had been notified of the outcome of the process. He was adamant that logging would be stopped on concessions that have been cancelled.¹⁰⁶

In Bikoro, LEDYA was found to be operating 'business as usual'. A local community representative for the village adjacent to LEDYA's processing depot knew that the concession had been cancelled and stated that the reason for this was because 'they did not pay their taxes'.¹⁰⁷ This shows that the basic information about the decision had reached the local level, but perhaps that the justification for it had not been explained to or understood by the locals. The LEDYA manager claimed not to know the outcome of the appeal process, however. According to the CIM's report of October 2008, this concession in Bikoro was cancelled because LEDYA had not provided evidence that it had sole ownership of LEDI–TAC, the name it was operating under in Bikoro. The manager said that he had written to the CIM to explain the 'misunderstanding' about his company's name and was still waiting for a response.¹⁰⁸ He pointed to a company truck, which had two logos on the cab door: LEDI–TAC and LEDYA. The LEDYA logo appeared to have been recently painted on.

By all indications, LEDYA had no intention of halting logging operations in Bikoro. The company had 168 employees on the concession and planned to open a sawmill in Kinshasa. It was planning to negotiate *cahiers de charges* with the local community 'soon', according to F Mayumbi, a company representative. These intentions voiced by the manager were undoubtedly influenced by the visit that same morning from the General Directorate for Administrative, Judicial, Property and Share Revenues provincial tax office, demanding that he pay taxes. With different agencies of government communicating different messages to this company, it was unsurprising that the manager was hedging his bets about the company's future plans. This demonstrates a serious challenge for logging companies and for forest governance more generally, of a lack of co-ordination and communication between the MENCT and other government departments at the national, provincial and local levels.

Revenue collection agencies are likely to be a barrier to the implementation of the CIM's decision to close down many logging companies in the DRC, as this example illustrates. They have every incentive to operate in a rent-seeking way, rather than in line with national policy. The planned decentralisation of revenue management in the DRC is likely to further complicate this situation.

The status of ITB's concessions at the time of writing was that they were likely to be converted despite the decisions of the CIM to the contrary. This was indicated by the secretary-general of the FIB in February 2009. It was also discussed at a workshop held in Kinshasa in March 2009, which ITB attended along with most of the logging companies whose titles had been converted by the CIM.¹⁰⁹ In Bikoro, ITB had stopped felling trees

temporarily, but there were several reasons for this besides their legal entitlement to log, which are discussed below.

There is potential for conflict if and when the cancellation of these concessions is implemented. Job losses would affect workers for LEDYA and ITB equally, although both companies were criticised by the church for paying low wages.¹¹⁰ ITB would have a stronger case than LEDYA to make that loss of corporate investment would impact negatively on the area if it were shut down, given ITB's participation in the local forestry governance programme of the IUCN. However, loss of income and investment for local communities needs to be weighed against the long-term interests of both these local communities themselves and the national and international interests of sustainable forestry.

The practical question facing the MENCT is not whether to implement the CIM's decisions to cancel LEDYA's and ITB's logging titles in Bikoro, but how to do so when the national government's weakness is pitted against resistance from local communities, companies, and even other agencies of local and provincial government. Key to overcoming such resistance would be a detailed plan of how the socio-economic effects of the closures could be mitigated.

CHALLENGES OF DOING BUSINESS IN BIKORO

Business was quiet for the industrial loggers of Bikoro Territory in February 2009. Apart from the storage of logs awaiting transportation, there was little sign of activity. SODEFOR's operations had yet to begin, as the company still has to finalise its forest management plan and negotiate *cahiers de charges* with local communities. Visits to the ITB forest concession and transportation site on the shore of Lake Tumba, as well as to the LEDYA processing site, revealed the precarious situation of these two companies. Numerous challenges to doing business here were described in interviews with the production managers and forest engineers of ITB and LEDYA.

The most obvious challenge is the near total absence of public infrastructure — roads, river transport, electricity or telecommunications. The ITB director-general, Sarrouf Fouad, rated lack of infrastructure as the greatest problem and cost for his company in the DRC.¹¹¹ Companies have to provide for all their infrastructure needs, purchasing and maintaining their own electricity generators, building and maintaining their own roads into the concessions, and using satellite phones for communications. One cellular telephone network, TIGO, had built a transmission tower close to the LEDYA concession, which provided network coverage to the Bikoro Territory for a short time. However, the network was cut off in January 2009. The Chinese company had discontinued service to Bikoro due to unprofitability.¹¹² It was not clear whether it had done so in response to the announced cancellation of two logging concessions in this territory and the expected reduction in calls that would result, or whether the cessation of services was simply a coincidence related to wider national or global business considerations.

Climate conditions and the terrain of the floodable rainforests make road access into the forest concessions difficult and unreliable. For example, unseasonally heavy rains in January and February 2009 prevented ITB from transporting logs out of its concession to the loading depot for river transport on Lake Tumba. The roads were flooded in places, and were being extensively repaired during the period of case study research. The weight of trucks loaded with giant logs is approximately 24 tonnes, which is so heavy that it destroys the roads in wet weather.¹¹³ The ITB engineer reported that the 'small dry season' of January–February usually provided a window period for the transportation of logs out of the forest concessions, which had not been possible this year.¹¹⁴ The ITB production manager, Ali Bofoud, said that cutting trees in the forest was not a problem during wet weather, but that no logs had been transported out of the concession in 2009.¹¹⁵



Logs stored at ITB loading site, Lake Tumba

According to Bofoud, road conditions were not the only reason ITB production had halted. The company had stopped cutting logs in December 2008 because the title was cancelled. He said that ITB was permitted to transport previously felled logs out of the concession when the roads became passable, but that 'to cut more trees we need permission from the government and we are still waiting for them to bring their decision [on the appeal process]'. This was verified to the extent that all the logs awaiting transportation to Kinshasa at the ITB beach on Lake Tumba were date stamped 2008. No logging activities were observed during a two-hour drive through the ITB concession.

THE 2008/09 GLOBAL FINANCIAL CRISIS

All three of the companies operating in Bikoro had felt the effects of the global financial crisis. In Kinshasa, Richard Garrique of SODEFOR expressed the views of the sector when he said, *'c'est une veritable catastrophe'*. He said the company had ceased any new investments in 2009. At the time of writing, SODEFOR had stock of approximately 15 000m³ of logs and processed timber, 'which we cannot sell'. This company is more acutely affected by the downturn in global markets than most, since it exports 60% of its product. Of this total, 60% is sold in Europe, 30% in Asia, and 10% in the Middle East and the US.

At the other end of the spectrum, LEDYA exploits timber mainly for domestic consumption. Mr Mayumbi of LEDYA had different concerns about the state of the sector. He said: 'We know there are fewer orders for timber recently. We are concerned about this because if timber does not sell the World Bank won't accept continued exploitation (of the forests). But we think this recession is only temporary.'

The ITB director-general, Mr Fouad, reported that the company has been seriously affected by a drop in orders for timber from abroad. He said the company was operating at 50% of its capacity, with no orders coming in. He said that 'we felt that something was going wrong in August last year, but we assumed that business would pick up again after the European summer holidays. It has not done so, however.'

SQUEEZED FROM TWO SIDES: TAXES AND CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Besides the high infrastructure costs of doing business, logging companies in Bikoro are subject to a myriad of taxes. At the national level, ITB pays a *redevance proportionelle* (proportional royalty) according to the number of logs harvested in the concession. It is also required to pay an area tax of \$25 per hectare for the concession of 295 000ha. It pays more than eight different taxes to the provincial administration in Mbandaka annually and three local taxes: vehicle tax, depot tax and tax on petrol. ITB is charged \$300 a month for rental of the beach loading area on Lake Tumba.¹¹⁶

It has been agreed through the Consultative Council that ITB's rental fee for the loading site on Lake Tumba be used by the local administration to fund the radio station of the Forestry Governance Centre, in order to raise environmental awareness and increase information-sharing among local communities. This is a good example of the value of the tripartite governance structure, as it has not only ensured that this fee paid to the local administration is spent wisely and to the benefit of local forest-dependent communities, but that it is *seen* by all actors to do so.

The transportation of logs out of Bikoro has many costs, such as fees paid to a stateowned company that is meant to clear sandbanks in the Congo River. The sandbanks are hardly ever cleared, making the river difficult to navigate, according to Fouad. From Kinshasa, it costs ITB \$1,500 to send a 15-tonne container to Matadi. To put these domestic transport costs into perspective, this is the same price as shipping the container overseas from Matadi to Antwerp.¹¹⁷

SODEFOR spokesperson Richard Garrique pointed out that its competitors in Gabon, Cameroon and the Republic of Congo had received tax relief from these countries' governments in response to the global financial crisis. The government of the DRC had done the opposite.¹¹⁸ The tax burden described by ITB and SODEFOR was confirmed by information compiled by the FIB, listing some 172 taxes on logging companies. The FIB was challenging a proposed increase of an annual tax from \$2,000 to \$10,000 in February 2009.¹¹⁹

Rationalising and reducing this tax regime was part of the World Bank's forestry sector proposals for the DRC, but this has not been implemented. Yet the government's forestry policy gives logging companies a central role in the socio-economic development of local communities through negotiated *cahiers de charges*. Logging companies are

therefore squeezed from two sides: to pay high taxes to the government and to make more substantial corporate social responsibility payments to local communities. This threatens to drive companies out of business altogether, especially in the current economic climate. A sounder strategy would be to reduce their tax burden in proportion to their demonstrated commitment to corporate social responsibility agreements with local communities.

High expectations of assistance from local communities are regarded as a challenge by the representatives of ITB, LEDYA and SODEFOR. Of the three companies, LEDYA was the least engaged in corporate social responsibility initiatives. However, Mayumbi said that the establishment of a CDV structure in the area had helped to 'make peace' between his company and local communities. He said that the problem with *cahiers de charges* was that communities wanted things done immediately, while LEDYA planned to make improvements to their lives over time, 'not in one week'.¹²⁰

ITB manager Bofoud made an effort to explain his company's commitment to local development.¹²¹ He showed a number of photographs of the 50km road from Bikoro to Itipo before and after ITB had improved it. He also showed photographs of a mud and thatch school building along this road, replaced by ITB with a more permanent building. He said that before ITB arrived there was no market in Bikoro and hardly any money in circulation. The free transportation of people and goods in the ITB boat was beneficial to the community. It was a problem that some people were trying to profit from the free transport, and even tried to stow their goods on the boat at night before the ITB logs were loaded.



LEDYA logging yard in Bikoro Territory

SAIIA RESEARCH REPORT NUMBER 4

BENEFITS OF THE TRIPARTITE LOCAL GOVERNANCE INITIATIVE FOR THE LOGGING COMPANIES

The benefits of the IUCN project for logging companies were simply expressed by ITB's Fouad: 'Thankfully we have the IUCN to talk to the people.' Smoothing company relations with local communities was the primary reason ITB gave for participating in the local forestry governance institutions. Bofoud, the production manager in Bikoro, agreed that the IUCN had 'made it easier to negotiate *cahiers de charges*'. He said that 'before the forest owner (usually the customary chief) demanded whatever he wanted: a car, for example. Now the communities understand that *cahiers de charges* are restricted to things like tools, schools and hospitals.'

The role of the IUCN in Bikoro was regarded as a mediating one, but also one that could represent and 'back up' the position of logging companies. Fouad commented that 'the ITB is in partnership with the IUCN so that if there is a misunderstanding with local communities. Joël [Kiyulu] explains to them that we are not a substitute for the state.'¹²² He offered a practical example:

When our boat gets to the lake people want to load their goods onto it first. We don't have the authority to stop them, since we are not the state. The IUCN can explain to the people that if they load first and there is no space left for the company's logs, the ITB will go out of business and the boat will no longer help them with transport.

SODEFOR was not as reliant on external mediation, having the resources to appoint a team of consultants to plan corporate social responsibility for its Bikoro concessions. The team included a sociologist and an agricultural engineer, as well as a pygmy representative, who were travelling through the territory to consult with local communities. The role of the IUCN was that it was commissioned by SODEFOR to establish focus groups that included women, youth and pygmies and to facilitate the negotiation of *cahiers de charges* with these groups. Garrique of SODEFOR said that 'we hope this collaboration with the IUCN will improve our relations with local communities'.

A danger for both of these cases is if the IUCN is regarded by local communities as favouring the interests of logging companies over their own interests or needs. The neutrality of the IUCN is at especially at stake if it is paid by SODEFOR to do commissioned work. It would be important for the IUCN to retain external and relatively independent funding for its work, in order to retain the trust and participation of local communities, as well as the local administration.

Greater access to information was a second benefit for ITB of participation in the tripartite forestry governance structures. The variations between logging companies of different sizes translated into different levels of knowledge and skill in sustainable forest management. SODEFOR had a sophisticated forest management plan for its Bikoro concessions and a team of experts scoping the concession, and could afford to commission the IUCN to assist in negotiating its *cahiers de charges* with local communities. By contrast, local staff at the established ITB concession were less well informed of national forestry policy and sought further information, training and support from the local forestry governance programme.

A third benefit of participation in tripartite governance was improved relations with government. This was expressed by both the ITB and local government representatives on the Consultative Council.

CHALLENGES FACED BY GOVERNMENT IN BIKORO TERRITORY

State weakness and lack of accountability are the defining problems of governance in the DRC. Forestry governance in Bikoro Territory is no exception to this rule. The local administrator for Bikoro Territory, Mr Longilima, had been incumbent in the position for five months. He was welcoming and open to research on forestry governance in the territory. He had little to say on the matter, however, during interviews and in the meetings with civil society and the private sector. The impression given was that the local administration was not opposed to participatory forest governance, but that it was unlikely to initiate better governance measures or exercise leadership in this area. The local community representatives and logging company representative were the more dynamic partners in the tripartite committee structure.

When prompted by the facilitator, Longilima said that unregulated charcoal production was the most serious challenge for forestry governance in Bikoro. He planned to regulate this activity by introducing a permit system for charcoal production and by sensitising people to the problem. When he reiterated this at a meeting with the CDV local community representatives, he was challenged from the floor. It was pointed out that many officials within the local and provincial government were themselves profiting from charcoal production. Longilima did not mention any need to monitor or regulate industrial logging, saying that the presence of ITB since 2005 had contributed to the social upliftment of Bikoro. He also associated the 'investment' of international NGOs (such as the IUCN) with the presence of industrial logging in the territory.

Bikoro Territory has a supervisor of the lake and forests, who has been working for the local administration since 1965.¹²³ He has 20 staff working for him, but only five receive salaries. The other 15 members of this office are unpaid, 'because they were only recently appointed — in 2002', according to their supervisor. Besides low salaries or no salaries at all, they were reportedly completely unequipped to conduct their duties of supervising exploitation of the lake and forests, lacking vehicles and boats. The supervisor said that if he needed to inspect activities on Lake Tumba, he was forced to ask ITB for permission to borrow its boat. He required a motorcycle to inspect the logging concessions, which he did not have. The only monitoring that takes place is at the ITB loading site on Lake Tumba, where they inspect the ITB boat before it leaves for Kinshasa. Clearly, the supervisor's office was in no position to control the activities of either formal or informal logging, either for timber or charcoal production. The inspection of the ITB boat appeared to be an opportunity for rent seeking by poorly paid officials rather than an exercise in forest management.

It would be incorrect to generalise from two interviews that local government in Bikoro is weak. However, a third interview indicated that the territory's most talented leadership was not to be found at the local level, but in Kinshasa. At the national level of government, the member of parliament (MP) for Bikoro, Joseph Ipakaka Yobwa, is chairperson of the Foreign Affairs Committee and the Environment Committee of the National Assembly. He belongs to the relatively small *Démocratie Chrétienne Fédéraliste* (Federalist Christian Democratic) Party, which is in coalition with the *Convention des Fédéralistes*.

Yobwa was well informed of national forestry policy and participates in a regional network of parliamentarians for forestry governance. His perspective was that industrial logging is a necessary part of an economic strategy to diversify the DRC's exports. When asked about the conservation imperatives of forestry policy, he commented that international NGOs are 'tough critics and sometimes unfair. Their recommendations are a luxury for our poor country, which needs development before conservation.' He added that allowing logging companies to exploit the DRC's forests in a controlled fashion opens roads and brings with it clinics and schools. Yobwa argued that 'from a Western perspective, this may not be much, but it means a great deal to the locals'.

Yobwa had recently returned from a visit to Bikoro Territory. He said that elected representatives are meant to go back to their constituencies at least once every three months during the parliamentary recess. It was his duty to find out about local problems and voice them in Kinshasa. In addition, MPs had a role in popularising the Forest Code and forestry policy in general. The problem was that 'most MPs are novices who may not understand the sector well themselves'. Yobwa praised the IUCN project for facilitating participatory forest management. He said this was not an easy task in Bikoro, since it was not in the customs of local communities or the local administration to do so.

Yobwa described the challenges of his constituency as 'typical of all the rural areas of the DRC — a lack of roads, schools and hospitals. There are high unemployment and low salaries, supplemented by unsustainable practices like overfishing of Lake Tumba.' Logging companies in the area needed better infrastructure and had to pay too many taxes. Much of the revenue from logging goes to other departments of government and not towards improving the forest management capacity of the MENCT.

BENEFITS OF TRIPARTITE FORESTRY GOVERNANCE STRUCTURES FOR THE LOCAL ADMINISTRATION

The tripartite approach to local forestry governance assists in strengthening both the capacity and the accountability of local administration in Bikoro Territory. By participating in meetings with the private sector, the church, NGOs and local communities, the administrator has a structured opportunity to consult people and demonstrate that he is 'doing something' besides collecting taxes and a salary. It is also an opportunity for people to question the administration, as demonstrated in the CDV meeting about charcoal production described in Box 2.

Since it has not yet been possible to hold local government elections in the DRC, these institutions are an alternative for a form of accountability, albeit on a narrow range of issues relating to forestry. The issue-specific nature of the meetings do serve to depoliticise interaction among the administration, communities and business, while building trust on which broader political dialogue could take place. Further, it was clear from the interactions between the IUCN national co-ordinator and the local administrator that the process helps to inform and build the capacity of local government to take better care of the forests.
OVERVIEW OF CIVIL SOCIETY/ THE LOCAL COMMUNITY IN BIKORO

This case study uses a broad definition of civil society, which (like the IUCN SVBC project's definition¹²⁴) includes NGOs, community-based organisations and forest-dependent communities.

In addition to the minority Batwa pygmy population, there are three Bantu ethnic groups represented in the Bikoro Territory, namely the Ngele Antando/Mongo, Ntomba and Ekonda. The territory is characterised by social stratification, with pygmy populations usually living on the outskirts of the villages. Equateur is the poorest province in the DRC. Whereas in the DRC as a whole just over 70% of the people can be classified as living in absolute poverty, in Equateur the figure is higher than 90%.¹²⁵ As mentioned, livelihoods in the area depend largely on fishing, foraging and some farming. For many in Bikoro Territory, the only means of income is charcoal production. That this poses a particular threat to the forest is reflected in the fact that more than half of the village-level committees established by SVBC have identified charcoal production as one of the pressing issues that need to be dealt with (see Box 2 for more on this).

The church occupies a central position in the territory, as it does in the rest of the country, and even beyond the DRC in the rest of the continent. Kelsall notes, for instance, that in Africa the church and related religious organisations are often some of the few self-sustaining organisations, even compared to the state or secular NGOs.¹²⁶ In the DRC, the

church is one of the main providers of social services, including schools and health care.¹²⁷ Around 50% of Congolese are Roman Catholic, 20% Protestant, 10% Kimbanguist and 10% Muslim.¹²⁸ In Bikoro, for instance, the Catholic mission supports a school and a hospital, while the civil society representative in the Executive College of the Consultative Council on Forest Governance is a local priest, Fr Joseph Mahonde.

The fact that the civil society representative on the council mentioned above is the priest points in part to the importance of the church in the local community, and in part to the weakness of other local civil society organisations. The fact that, within the DRC, civil society has too often in the past been seen simply as a 'gateway to power'¹²⁹ (politics)

Community representative at CDV meeting in Bikoro



has served further to erode communities' understanding of and trust in these kinds of organisations.¹³⁰

In Bikoro Territory, the church dominates civil society, as no local NGOs are active. The church should not be regarded as monolithic on issues of forest governance, however, as the nuns teaching at the Bikoro Secondary School voiced decidedly more critical opinions of logging in the area than were heard from Fr Mahonde. Two of the nuns interviewed said that ITB had done little for the community. When asked about the school built by ITB in Manga, they pointed out that there weren't enough exercise books or equipment for the pupils. A visit to the school in question found pupils engaged in woodwork, but no other subjects were being taught at the time. Joël Kiyulu raised this problem with the headmaster and agreed to place the provision of notebooks on the agenda of the Consultative Council.

Since the church had provided most, and the best, schools in the area for many years before ITB arrived in Bikoro, the nuns' disdain for ITB's 'corporate social responsibility' efforts was to be expected. There was more to their criticism than rivalry, however, as they were experienced social workers in the area and well read in issues of conservation and governance.¹³¹ Several of the nuns had lived and served in Bikoro for over 25 years — far longer than any NGO or private sector engagement. They were lecturing their secondary school students on the importance of conserving the forests, which bodes well for the future involvement of the Bikoro youth in forestry governance.

In terms of international NGOs, the IUCN is the most active in the territory at the moment. Before the IUCN, the International Rivers Network ran a project in the area. As the IUCN project comes to an end in July 2009, the search for organisations to pick up where this pilot leaves off has started. One option is to work even closer with the CARPE landscapes project.¹³² Bikoro falls within the bigger Lake Télé–Lake Tumba CARPE landscape, which involves, among others, the World Conservation Society and the World Wide Fund for Nature.¹³³

CHALLENGES FACED BY CIVIL SOCIETY/ THE LOCAL COMMUNITY IN BIKORO

The challenges faced by the local communities in Bikoro, as identified by them, are reflected in the five niche committees created by the SVBC project. The single biggest cross-cutting challenge faced by these communities is poverty. Related to this is the fact that there are currently few alternatives to the status quo. In the medium term, a lack of infrastructure contributes to the lack of alternatives, even as it serves to isolate the community. In this context and as mentioned above, the church and the private sector are the primary providers of much-needed social services. So, for instance, one of the logging companies built a road in the area, thus opening it up for small-scale contact and trade. For the locals, contact with Kinshasa — besides that with higher-level bureaucrats and the occasional aid worker who can afford to fly to Mbandaka and then drive the last 120km or so — relies on the monthly logging ship trip to the capital. Sometimes, despite the fact that it is formally forbidden, members of the community make use of this ship to transport their goods to the market in Kinshasa. More often than not this would entail the transport of charcoal for sale in the capital.

Wood and charcoal provide 80% of all domestic energy consumed in the DRC. The DRC's fuelwood consumption has been estimated at around 72 million m³ per year. This means that the overwhelming majority of the wood harvested in the DRC is used locally for heating and cooking.¹³⁴ At the core of the challenge lies the lack of alternative livelihoods. Not only are there no alternative sources of energy, there are usually also few alternative sources of income. Charcoal is used where it is produced in rural areas like Bikoro, but it is also a tradable good exported to the more urban areas. And selling charcoal makes economic sense. Anecdotal evidence put the price of a bag of charcoal at CDF1,000 in the village, CDF1,500 in Mbandaka and CDF4,000 in Kinshasa.¹³⁵ A 2005 study by the Centre for International Forestry Research (CIFOR) found that households in Equateur Province that sold six non-timber forest products (including wood charcoal) had an average monthly income equivalent to that of a civil servant. For the traders, profits from wood charcoal was the highest, generating an average monthly income of \$216, compared to an average salary of \$50–\$70 for a secondary school teacher. This income is multiplied many times over for those products reaching Kinshasa.¹³⁶

At the national level, the DRC's response has been the formulation of a decree for regulating charcoal production. The final product will aim to do so by requiring permits for charcoal production. Once the decree has been passed, the challenge will be to communicate it to the local level, and then to implement it. There are also pilot projects with international support, such as the Ibi-Batéké Carbon Sink Project, which has as one of its aims sustainable charcoal production from plantation forestry.¹³⁷ In the final analysis, all these solutions require practical implementation at the local level, where charcoal production currently provides one of very few income-enerating alternatives.



CDV meeting on charcoal production at Bikoro, February 2009

SAIIA RESEARCH REPORT NUMBER 4

Box 2: Niche CDV meeting on charcoal production

That charcoal production is a particular threat to the forest in Bikoro Territory is reflected in the fact that more than half the village committees were represented at a meeting of the niche CDV on charcoal production held in February 2009. Some of the CDVs represented at the meeting came from as far away as the other side of Lake Tumba. The 31 representatives at the meeting included 10 women and 21 men. Participation was lively and active, with women and men, young and old, and Bantu and pygmy contributing voluntarily. This can be attributed in part to the familiarity of the context — village problems are usually dealt with in similar meetings — and in part to competent facilitation provided by the co-ordinator of the IUCN SVBC project in the DRC.

The facilitator led the participants through a participatory problem-solving exercise, starting with the identification of the effects of charcoal production, to the problems and causes, and finally to proposed activities leading to a solution. Some of the effects of charcoal production identified include the 'death' of the forest and the accompanying destruction of non-timber forest products like caterpillars and mushrooms (food that often also has medicinal properties). This leads to both a food crisis and changes in the weather, which could both contribute to an increase in disease. The underlying causes of an increase in production were identified as poverty and uncontrolled commerce, caused in part by a lack of regulation. This meeting identified the identification of charcoal buyers and sellers as one of the first steps towards a solution. As an interim measure, and while the community awaits the national decree on charcoal production, the activity has been declared forbidden by the administrator. It was also decided that logging companies must stop transporting charcoal. Earlier, a meeting of the general assembly of the consultative group also identified some alternative livelihoods, including agriculture and small-scale livestock farming. That meeting also discussed reforestation and the imposition of fines for illegal charcoal production as part of the solution.

The difficulties of implementing such measures were highlighted by a statement of a forest monitor that, should charcoal be confiscated, some of it would be sold and the money given to the administrator, and the rest given to family members. At the February meeting of the niche CDV, a traditional chief added, 'How do we implement a ban if some administrators are themselves involved in charcoal production?' While this serves to confirm the challenges, it also shows the communication channels opened by these village meetings. Practically, the control of charcoal production by policing seems problematic, especially if this is not coupled with the introduction of alternatives in terms of both sources of fuel and income. The export of agricultural products, too, can make economic sense. Like charcoal, a pineapple costs more in Mbandaka than it does in Bikoro, and more in Kinshasa than it does in Mbandaka.

Pineapples, peanuts, maize or cassava — like charcoal — need to be transported; however — unlike charcoal — foodstuffs are perishable. Also, the introduction of alternatives could lead to alternative threats to the forest, e.g. slash-and-burn agriculture. The abovementioned challenges require creative solutions, examples of which are being developed all over the world. Participatory problem solving of the kind practised by the SVBC project has the potential to integrate local sources of knowledge even as it ensures community buy-in. Once solutions have been proposed, the challenge becomes implementation.

BENEFITS OF TRIPARTITE LOCAL GOVERNANCE STRUCTURES FOR CIVIL SOCIETY/LOCAL COMMUNITIES

True to the name of the pilot project visited, one of the main advantages of tripartite structures relates to their potential to 'strengthen voices', particularly those of the marginalised community members. By incorporating the different kinds of knowledge brought to the process by different groups (and especially that brought by traditionally marginalised groups), such structures also have the potential to lead to 'better choices'. Related to this, and by virtue of the regular face-to-face contact among different groups represented in these structures, it could aid in breaking down stereotypes and building trust, both within civil society, and between civil society and the administration and private sector. This does, however, not happen automatically. The success of multi-stakeholder structures depends on several factors, including the design of the structures, the decision-making procedures followed and the good facilitation of meetings.¹³⁸ Such issues are particularly important considering the unequal power relations at play in these kinds of structures. Even if all these things are taken into account, building multi-stakeholder structures takes time.

Another major advantage of local level tripartite structures relate to the exchange of information. These structures create channels for exchanging knowledge and views on forestry and community development-related issues among different stakeholders. Communities can express their expectations of the private sector, as well as discuss their frustrations. The companies can, in turn, respond with their perspective on the issues, or even introduce new issues. The administration can do the same and, in addition, it is also responsible for communicating and translating policy decisions and their implications from the national level to the local.

While local-level tripartite structures could go some way in strengthening the voice of communities, as mentioned, in Bikoro very few organised local civil society organisations exist outside of the church. This was a specific challenge identified in the territory, where the proposed solution includes a workshop on civil society ('What it is, and what it is not'; 'The role(s) of civil society'; etc.). Also, just as tripartite structures provide benefits to civil society, so too civil society can provide benefits to the structures. So, for instance, the involvement of the church has been identified as a factor that should increase the project's sustainability.¹³⁹ This is in line with research that points to the church as one of a few self-sustaining structures in many African countries.¹⁴⁰ In addition, the success of any local-level multi-stakeholder structures depends, of course, on buy-in from communities.

TRIPARTITE STRUCTURES A MODEL FOR BOTTOM-UP GOVERNANCE?

The beginning of this report on forestry governance identified a global shift in thinking on the nature of such governance. As it became clear that top-down, hierarchical control of such complex systems does not work, a gradual shift to multilevel, multi-stakeholder (network) forms of governance can be discerned. Furthermore, the question guiding this section¹⁴¹ is in line with research findings that indicate that, when it comes to governance, institutions (and in the case of common-pool resources, particularly local institutions) matter.¹⁴² The potential benefits of local-level tripartite structures for each of the three stakeholder groups were discussed in the sections above. This last section will focus on general governance-related benefits of such structures, the lessons learnt and some of the challenges faced.

WHAT IS BENEFICIAL ABOUT TRIPARTITE STRUCTURES?

Influential, but informal traditional institutions exist in a realm parallel to that of formal rules and regulations in the DRC, as they do elsewhere in Africa. The UN Economic Commission for Africa is of the opinion that successful development is unlikely to occur under the existing duality of institutions, and argues instead for the integration of the parallel systems of formal and informal, traditional governance.¹⁴³ This is part of a heated debate as to whether, and how, traditional institutions are relevant for the transformation of African economies and governance systems.¹⁴⁴ However, even if we decide to design wholly new institutions, scholars like Skjøsvold argue that the design of robust systems often requires the bringing of elements from the past system into the new system.¹⁴⁵ So, for instance, Botswana adapted its institutional meeting called a '*kgotla*'. A *kgotla* is in essence a democratic process with historical roots in which the village chief would consult with local villagers, who in turn have a right to express their views and concerns.¹⁴⁶

Traditional institutions of governance are particularly salient in rural Africa, where people often feel alienated from the state.¹⁴⁷ In a country as large as the DRC, where as



Joël Kiyulu (right) at the forestry centre's ebanga (meeting place)

SAIIA RESEARCH REPORT NUMBER 4

much as 70% of the population live in rural areas,¹⁴⁸ this alienation is exacerbated by a lack of infrastructure. In this context, tripartite structures, particularly those at the local level, provide an opportunity to marry the formal and informal, or at least to incorporate elements of one in the other. To do this, it is important to include representatives from both the formal sphere of governance (e.g. the local administrator) and the informal sphere (e.g. the local elders). The SVBC project offers some practical examples of ways to integrate the formal and informal. In the DRC context, village meetings are a familiar and accepted way of solving problems and making decisions. Therefore, despite forming part of a global NGO project, the local committees for dialogue and vigilance (CDVs) are not foreign to the rural DRC context. In the CDVs, the responsibility for conflict resolution lies primarily with the customary chief, as it does traditionally.¹⁴⁹ The fact that conflict resolution has been identified as an area in which traditional institutions have demonstrated success supports an argument for their retention.¹⁵⁰ Also, in the area set aside for a community centre in Bikoro, both an *ebanga* and a *paillot* are being constructed. Both are meeting places. Traditionally, an ebanga is the place where the chief receives guests and where conflicts are resolved, while the local administrator at Bikoro entertains guests at a paillot.

Secondly, by allowing for the regular input of diverse stakeholders into decisionsmaking processes, local-level tripartite decision-making structures are, in design, closer to participatory democracy.¹⁵¹ These structures also provide the opportunity to solve immediate and specific grassroots problems that cannot be solved at the national level (see Box 3 for examples). This is even more important in the context of the DRC: a large state that — by virtue of its very limited capacity — has no effective 'reach' to the larget part of its territory.

Box 3: Solving water conflict

When the logging company ITB decided to build a road to one of its concessions in the Bikoro territory, one of its biggest challenges was water. The area has no real dry season, as reflected in the fact that the forests in the territory are known as floodable or swamp forests. This led to the building of four dykes (levees or stopbanks) on the 50km stretch of newly built road. However, the fishing traps set by community fishermen obstructed the water of the river, causing it to dam up and so increasing the pressure on the dykes. If the situation were to continue as it was, the road would wash away. ITB was upset with the fishermen, and they were upset in turn, arguing that the company was trying to sabotage their fishing activities. In another case, a community was unhappy with the same company, arguing that it polluted their water by allowing its employees to wash their clothes at the community's water source.

Both these issues were discussed at multi-stakeholder community meetings. After being identified at CDV level, the issues were referred also to the consultative group. In the case of the dykes, a facilitated dialogue between the stakeholders led to a discussion on the effects on the community if the road were to wash away. Agreement was reached that the road was a good thing, as it opened up the area for increased contact and trade. A

decision was made not to use fishing traps in the area of the dykes. The implementation of this decision would be the responsibility of the local administrator. In the case of the polluted water source, the company agreed that its employees would stop washing their clothes there and instead do it somewhere else.



Meeting of local chief (seated left) and ITB engineer (centre) on the ITB forest concession

Sources: IUCN SVBC, 'Premier Assemblée Générale du Comité Consultative sur la Bonne Gouvernance à Bikoro', meeting minutes, 5–6 December 2007; interviews with community members of Bokongo village, 23 February 2009; interview with F van de Ven, FIB, 18 February 2009; interviews with ITB representatives, 23–25 February 2009.

Tripartite structures of the kind established by the SVBC project serve to open up communication channels among stakeholders, whose interactions, if unmediated, easily become unproductively confrontational. While the existence of tripartite structures does not prevent conflict, it does provide a framework for working towards constructive resolution at the grassroots level. Increasing the contact among the different stakeholders also has the potential to build trust. One view of trust is that it emerges in groups as a 'by-product of shared social identity'.¹⁵² The argument goes as follows: groups (or individuals) that share a social identity (e.g. a similar culture and religion) will find it harder to anticipate aggressive intentions towards them from an inherently 'good', that is similar, group (or individual). This view of trust could go some way in explaining distrust between local communities and foreign logging companies, for instance. However, social identity trust is not the only type of trust. In fact, in negotiations, social identity trust usually takes a back seat to so-called 'calculative' or 'exchange trust'.¹⁵³ Exchange theories of trust 'focus attention on utilities — material, social or psychic — evaluated and weighed

by the actor in deciding whether it is in the actor's interest to give or honour trust'.¹⁵⁴ Hardin explains how exchange trust can be increased: trust is a product of knowledge.¹⁵⁵ An actor who repeatedly acts according to expectations (in other words, predictably) will become trustworthy. Exchange trust demands a track record; and a trustworthy track record, in turn, depends on reiterated interactions. This type of trust thus develops as repeated interactions produce expected outcomes. With continued interaction, the actors 'know' that they can trust one another and exchange trust grows. Therefore, by increasing the interaction among the administration, communities and the private sector, multistakeholder structures can aid in building exchange trust.

One of the main lessons learnt is that, in addition to a need for material resources, such a process is both time and labour intensive. While a bottom-up process has the potential to empower communities, the redefinition of roles and responsibilities that it entails requires a mind shift not only at the national (central) level, but also at the local level. Even as a sense of stewardship over the forest and its resources has existed in pockets at this level for some time, it takes time for the local stakeholders to develop a sense of ownership over the broader, inclusive process of governance. A member of the body in charge of evaluating the bigger IUCN project explained it as follows: 'It takes a long time to create the confidence [for the community-level actors] to be creators.'¹⁵⁶ Building confidence takes time, and so does building trust. By way of illustration, one of the first community meetings at Bikoro entailed a three-hour discussion revolving around a missing carton of sardines.¹⁵⁷ One might have been tempted to cut that meeting short, not realising that it was in fact a crucial part of a process of trust building, i.e. that a three-hour discussion about some sardines could lay the groundwork for future discussions about bigger issues. Then, once the discussions are over, the challenge of implementing the decisions remains.

At all stages of the process, the importance of good leadership cannot be overstated. To a significant extent, the successes of the project thus far can be attributed in large part to the capable and committed leadership and facilitation of the project's co-ordinator. This leads to particular challenges related to the sustainability of the project. Ideally, eventually full responsibility for the project's sustainability should lie with the community. Local ownership of the process requires effective and accountable local leadership. In the case of the IUCN project in Bikoro, there used to be a group of men in the territory who designated themselves as the unofficial 'committee' through whom most development assistance activities were to be channelled. Experience proved, however, that this group was largely ineffective in the carrying out of this unofficial mandate. In an effort to prevent entrenched interests from hijacking the process, the SVBC project made the decision to replace this group of men with others. This new group is now being given a chance to prove itself. Unfortunately, and as can be expected, the new group faces some opposition from the old one. Managing the negative fallout requires particular facilitation and conflict mitigation skills.

In terms of good leadership, at least two factors are important: firstly, good leaders should be legitimate and accountable; and, secondly, good leaders are those who care about the issue. It is important to note that there are different ways to recognise and ensure legitimacy and accountability, and that competitive elections held every few years are neither an exclusive nor always a sufficient solution.¹⁵⁸ It makes sense to identify those leaders that already enjoy local legitimacy rather than trying to create new ones.¹⁵⁹ Asking 'Who cares?'¹⁶⁰ and starting with those who would answer in the affirmative is the second

condition. In the case of the SVBC project, one way this was done was by rellocating the *per diem* payments when it became clear that attendance of meetings was being influenced by these payments.¹⁶¹

Finally, multi-stakeholder processes should take a learning approach and provide for some degree of flexibility in implementation.¹⁶² A suggested approach is that of action learning.¹⁶³ This is based on the logic that learning (L) is based on programmed knowledge (or the things that we can be taught, P) plus questioning skills (or the ability to apply what has been taught to 'messy' real-life problems, Q); thus, L = P + Q. An action learning approach allows specific solutions to fit the context as they adapt to local conditions and changes. Such an approach contributes to the building of robust institutions.¹⁶⁴ While robust institutions might not be the most efficient, they are more likely (than less robust, but more efficient institutions) to survive when confronted with external disturbance or internal stresses.¹⁶⁵ The use of such an action learning approach in the SVBC pilot countries was explicitly built into the original IUCN project design.¹⁶⁶

Box 4: Adaptive learning in action

At the beginning the SVBC project, the project budget included an allowance for *per diems* to be paid to attendees of CDV community meetings. With time, it became clear that for many the money served as greater motivation for attendance than did the forest governance issues under consideration. In addition, it was noted that the kind of community meetings established by the project was not a wholly novel idea, and that problems in local communities have been solved in similar meetings for generations without payment. A decision was made to stop paying the *per diems*, and instead to use the money on a project that would show concrete results.

In Bikoro, the overarching challenge faced by communities has been identified as poverty. Related to this is also inequality. A practical manifestation of this is the fact that most children cannot afford to buy enough notebooks for school. While a lucky few have one book per subject, for many a single notebook has to suffice for all subjects. Notebooks are imported from Kinshasa, which means that, unlike charcoal, plantains and pineapples, notebooks cost more in Bikoro than in the capital. In the past, free notebooks distributed by NGOs had the unintended consequence of distorting the local market. Realising that they were selling fewer books, local businesspeople reacted by increasing their prices in an effort to keep their incomes stable.

The problem described above was that which the SVBC project decided to address with the old *per diem* money. A decision was made to build a small shop (canteen) that would sell school supplies. As part of its corporate social responsibility, a local logging company agreed to bring school supplies, bought with the old *per diem* money, on its ship from Kinshasa. These books would be sold at near cost price, and the money made used to buy more supplies from Kinshasa. A mechanism was also put in place that entitled each child to buy as many books as he/she has subjects, and no more. This mechanism would be administered by the schools. In order to earn some money (e.g. for buying books), older children would be taught how to grow plantains (bananas). The logging company also agreed to transport the plantains from Bikoro to Kinshasa to be sold. This could replace

some of the charcoal produced by the community that the company used to transport, and that they agreed to stop.

Following the introduction of the school canteen project, the CDVs continued to meet, albeit without the participation of those who attended only for the money. At the same time, the canteen project serves to reduce both poverty and inequality at the household level. The participation of children means that they are proactive in the governance process. In addition, if they started to sell plantains in Kinshasa, it could go some way in weaning the community off its dependence on charcoal money. In turn, a reduced dependence on charcoal exports addresses one of the main challenges of sustainable forest governance in the area.

CHAPTER 6

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

A pproaches to forestry governance in a country like the DRC require negotiations with and the accommodation of many actors besides government officials. Different interests, although implicitly present in all discussions, are rarely acknowledged explicitly by stakeholders. Such differences underlie even an all-inclusive vision such as that articulated in the DRC Forest Code.

When compared with other sectors, co-ordination within the forestry sector has, to date, been relatively successful. This can be attributed to good leadership and commitment from both the relevant government ministry and the international development partners involved. However, forestry does not exist in isolation. It is intricately linked to several other sectors, including at least mining, agriculture, transport and finance. Co-ordination between forestry and these sectors is lacking.

Recommendation 1

Co-ordination of forestry governance initiatives with other relevant areas of governance in the DRC should be strengthened, through regular interministerial meetings initiated by the MENCT.

Recommendation 2

Future negotiations on forestry governance issues should build on the relationship of trust that currently exists between officials in the MENCT and the thematic group on forests and the environment (GT13). In this relationship, the MENCT, and specifically PNFoCo, should assume greater ownership of the process.

This would go some way in deflecting criticisms that these kinds of relationships, initiated as they are by the Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness, are externally driven.¹⁶⁷ At the same time, sustained international commitment to the forestry sector remains crucial. This is particularly important considering the global public goods value of the Congo rainforest, coupled with the fact that the DRC state faces many immediate priorities, including economic development and poverty alleviation. This means that in the DRC, as in other high forest cover developing countries, forests tend to be seen first and foremost through the lens of economic development, while developed countries tend to pay greater attention to issues of environmental sustainability and conservation.¹⁶⁸

Recommendation 3

International partners should maintain their levels of engagement in forestry governance initiatives in the DRC and further co-ordinate their efforts through, among other things, the multidonor trust funds created for this purpose.

Despite initial appearance to the contrary, the dual recommendations mentioned above can complement each other. In practice, it could entail that the MENCT increasingly initiates discussions on the framework into which interventions — including contributions by development partners — are to fit, instead of trying to squeeze whatever individual plans the development partners have into its sector framework. Even so, the vision and resulting framework would still be negotiated among stakeholders. Greater country ownership would not mean that international perspectives are sidelined, but it might well assist in a proposed division of labour.¹⁶⁹ Related to this, strategic steering and co-ordination (or meta-governance) is important also at the regional and international levels, where initiatives like the Congo Basin Forest Partnership and the FLEGT processes are developments to watch.¹⁷⁰

As climate change is elevated on the global agenda, forests found in the developing world are increasingly valued as global strategic resources. This realisation has given rise to innovative finance mechanisms for forests (such as REDD) in climate change negotiations. The framework that results from these negotiations will influence the terms of foreign engagement with the forest sector in countries like the DRC.

Recommendation 4

At the regional and global levels, the DRC government should play a proactive role in negotiations on forest-related issues, particularly in its capacity as a member of COMIFAC, but also as a member of the Southern African Development Community and the African Union.

While serious challenges of capacity remain, those efforts directed at the central level of the DRC's MENCT appear to be paying off. The glaring need for capacity building at the provincial and local levels is brought into sharper focus as plans for decentralisation take shape. These plans include both the decentralisation planned for the DRC as a whole and the effect that global trends towards bottom-up forest governance is having on forest governance initiatives in the DRC.¹⁷¹

Capacity building for decentralisation in the DRC is a mammoth task to be undertaken with limited resources. For this reason, this report highlights the importance of prioritising. Efforts should be concentrated in (1) those areas where the need is most urgent, and (2) those areas where limited inputs are most likely to have a significant impact. If such interventions yield some relatively quick and visible results, they could serve to create a momentum for positive change. In terms of decentralisation, improving communication between the local and provincial levels and the national level is a crucial first step. Another related, but more specific need relates to the communication and management of the decisions of the CIM on the cancellation of forest titles.

Recommendation 5

Communication channels among the relevant ministries at national level and representatives of the administration at the provincial and local levels should be improved. A mechanism should be put in place to monitor this communication so as to ensure the effective dissemination of information from the national level downwards.

Recommendation 6

The MENCT should draft and communicate a clear plan of how the socio-economic effects of the cancellation of forest titles are to be mitigated.

In order to prioritise, it is also important to match the content of proposed governance initiatives with the context. This report suggests that, in a context of limited resources, successful initiatives are those that manage to harness the different kinds of positive capital brought by multiple stakeholders, while mechanisms are put in place to prevent the process from being hijacked by entrenched interests. The forestry case study discussed provides some practical suggestions for ways to implement this suggestion at grass-roots level.

In addition to a limited availability of resources, an important part of the DRC context relates to the role played by informal institutions, often in parallel to that of the formal ones. Informal, traditional institutions are even more salient at the local level, and particularly so in rural areas. This means that, at the local level, de facto leaders include not only the local members of the administration. In order to make the best use of limited capacity, governance initiatives would therefore benefit from a more nuanced division of labour. So, for instance, the local administration could be responsible for the communication of the regulatory framework from the national level downwards, as well as for its implementation. In turn, the customary chiefs could continue to fulfil their traditional role by taking responsibility for resolving day-to-day conflicts that arise in their communities, but that fall outside the broad framework provided by the law.

Recommendation 7

New forest governance initiatives should, as far as possible, build on existing local institutions.

The SVBC deliverables in the DRC include both tangible, bricks-and-mortar assets, like the information centre and the radio station, and those of the institutional kind, like the channels for improved stakeholder engagement provided in the form of, among others, the CDVs and the Consultative Council. To date, the greatest assets delivered by the SVBC project are these institutional ones. However, even well-designed institutions take time to become consolidated. The project reiterated that, in addition to the material resources required to launch a sustainable governance initiative, it is also a labour-intensive and time-consuming exercise.

In terms of the two forums for stakeholder engagement mentioned above, the following should be noted: the fact that, by design, multi-stakeholder decision-making structures at grassroots level are closer to participatory democracy is a good thing. In rural DRC, village committees are the customary way of engaging community members to solve problems. In institutional design, therefore, the SVBC CDVs are largely familiar to local communities. Because of this, and if such committees are shown to provide benefits for community members, they have the potential to become self-sustainable.

To date, the way in which the Consultative Council engages the administration, the private sector and communities has also shown signs of improving forest governance. Even more so than the CDVs, however, this council is the result of conscious design: it did not form by itself and neither will it automatically sustain itself. It was noted that, even as

inclusive processes have the potential to give voice to a broad spectrum of views, turning that potential into tangible benefits requires skilful facilitation. This is important not least because of underlying power relations. So, for instance, there is always the threat that one stakeholder is marginalised (e.g. communities and in particular marginalised members like pygmies), while another's perspective (e.g. the private sector's) dominates. In addition to issues of institutional and process design, the crucial role played by a facilitator in dealing with such challenges was noted.

Recommendation 8

The constitution of multi-stakeholder forestry governance structures should make provision for the role of a neutral facilitator who is trained to mediate discussions among the private sector, the administration and civil society.

Those who design governance initiatives should recognise that it usually takes longer than initially planned for institutions to become consolidated. This should be taken into account in project time lines. Considerations relating to sustainability should also be built into project design from the very beginning. Then, once a project is up and running, it is important to identify where the dynamics for sustainability will come from. In the case of the SVBC pilot in the DRC, it was noted that the prospects for sustainability are enhanced by involving the church. This could also be relevant in other cases, considering the fact that the church is often one of the few self-sustaining organisations in Africa. So too, designing initiatives that build on existing institutions will serve to enhance prospects for longer-term sustainability. It is also a good idea to involve the youth. Lastly, it is recommended also to build into any project design an exit strategy, or a last phase for handing over.

Should something like the SVBC model be replicated in other areas where logging companies are active, funders should remain engaged for long enough to ensure at least some degree of consolidation. If village committees build on local institutions and show some positive results relatively quickly, they are potentially self-sustainable. At the territorial level, neutral facilitators should be trained in facilitation/mediation skills and consultative processes. These facilitators should remain even after the donor-funded project ends. The training and salaries could be funded by the provision of environmental services (alternative finance mechanisms/REDD). This would be an appropriate use of such funds, considering that these facilitators could also assist in building communication channels between the local and provincial levels and the national level. This would include the communication of forest policies and regulations from the national level down to the local level, something identified as an urgent need.

Recommendation 9

Sustainability considerations should be built into project design and should also be considered throughout the life of any local forestry governance initiative. Clear and transparent governance of the funding of such initiatives should be a priority. A financial governing body should be established by each consultative council to control and account for the funds designated for local forestry governance.

Recommendation 10

Local youth should be encouraged to participate in forestry governance projects such as those at Bikoro, e.g. through the use of innovative fundraising ideas for school canteens and notebooks.

In conclusion, local-level tripartite structures have been shown to work well as a network governance approach to the forestry sector. This report has revealed the importance of communication of forestry policy from the national to the local level in the DRC. Not only did local communities need to be empowered with greater knowledge of national policy, but logging companies and local administration also needed information and training. The lasting impression is how labour intensive, complex and challenging the improvement of forestry governance in the DRC is and will be. Placing the urgent local needs witnessed in a context of national reform and global imperatives, forestry governance would be best served by growing these institutions from the roots up.



School children at Bikoro

ENDNOTES

- Debroux L, Hart T, Kaimowitz D, Karsenty A & G Topa (eds), Forests in Post-Conflict Democratic Republic of Congo: Analysis of a Priority Agenda, joint World Bank et al. report. Jakarta: CIFOR, 2007, p. 1.
- 2 'Territory' is an official subdivision of a DRC province.
- 3 Debroux L et al., p. ix.
- 4 Ibid.
- 5 Brown D, Schreckenberg K, Sheperd G & A Wells, 'Forestry as an entry-point for governance reform', *ODI Forestry Briefing*, 1, London: ODI, April 2002.
- 6 Ibid.
- 7 Scott J, Seeing Like a State: How Certain Schemes to Improve the Human Condition Have Failed. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1998, pp. 11–12.
- 8 DeLong B, 'Forests, trees and intellectual roots', review of Scott J, *op. cit*, <http://econ161. berkeley.edu/Econ_Articles/Reviews/Seeing_Like_a_State.html>.
- 9 Glück P, Rayner J, Cashore B, Agrawal A, Bernstein S, Capistrano D, Hogl K, Liss BM, McDermott C, Maini JS, Oksanen T, Ollonqvist P, Pülzl H, Rametsteiner E & W Pleschberger, 'Changes in the governance of forest resources', in Mery G, Alfaro R, Kanninen M & M Lobovikov (eds), *Forests in the Global Balance: Changing Paradigms*, IUFRO World Series, 17. Helsinki: International Union of Forest Research Organizations, 2005, p. 52.
- 10 Ibid., p. 71.
- 11 See, for instance Glück P *et al.*, *op. cit.*, and especially the sources cited on p. 55 of that chapter.
- 12 Hardin G, 'The tragedy of the commons', *Science*, 162, 3859, 1968, pp. 1243–48.
- 13 Ostrom E & CB Field, 'Revisiting the commons: Local lessons, global challenges', *Science*, 284, 5412, 1999, pp. 278–82.
- 14 Ibid.
- 15 Armitage D, 'Governance and the commons in a multi-level world', *International Journal of the Commons*, 2, 1, January 2008, p. 15.
- 16 Glück P et al., op. cit., p. 55.
- 17 See, for instance, Popescu LG, 'Structural dynamic of the public sector and multilevel governance: Between hierarchies, market and network forms', 2005, p. 9, <http://egpa2007. inap.map.es/egpa2007/workshops/SGV/SG5%20Popescu.pdf>.
- 18 See, for instance, *ibid.*, p. 14; Glück P *et al.*, *op. cit.*; Laking R, 'The role of network governance in local government strategic decision-making: A note', paper presented to the Local Futures Progamme at the School of Government, Victoria University of Wellington, December 2005, pp. 1–6, <http://www.vuw.ac.nz/staff/rob_laking/Papers/LocalFutures/Local%20Government %20and%20network%20governance.pdf>.
- 19 Meisel W & J Ould Aoudia, 'Is "good governance" a good development strategy?', AFD Working Paper, 58. Paris: Agence Française de Développement, January 2008.
- 20 Schneider V & JM Bauer, 'Governance: Prospects of complexity theory in revisiting system theory', paper presented at the annual meeting of the Midwest Political Science Association, Panel 33.26: Political Theory and Theories of Political Science, 2007.
- 21 See, for instance Glück P et al., op. cit.

- 22 See, for instance Armitage D, op. cit., p. 11; Basurto X & E Ostrom, 'Beyond the tragedy of the commons', Social Science Research Network Working Paper Series, 31 October 2008, http://ssrn.com/abstract=1304688>.
- 23 Interview with F van de Ven, Industrial Forestry Federation (FIB), Kinshasa, 21 October 2008.
- 24 Danzer Group website, <http://www.danzergroup.com/70s-80s.278.0.html>, accessed on 12 March 2009.
- 25 Draulans D & E van Krunkelsven, 'The impacts of war on forest areas in the Democratic Republic of Congo', *Oryx*, 36, 1, 2002, p. 38.
- 26 Baker M, Clausen R, N'Goma M, Roule T & J Thomson, Conflict Timber: Dimensions of the Problem in Asia and Africa, DR Congo, 3, ARD final report submitted to the United States Agency for International Development (USAID), 2003, p. 11.
- 27 Draulans D & E van Krunkelsven, op. cit., p. 37.
- 28 Ibid., p. 35.
- 29 Baker M et al., op. cit., p. 22.
- 30 International Tropical Timber Organisation (ITTO), Annual Review and Assessment of the World Timber Situation 2007, p. 19, http://www.itto.int>.
- 31 World Bank Inspection Panel, Investigation Report No. 40746ZR on the Democratic Republic of the Congo: Transitional Support for Economic Recovery Grant (TSERO) (IDA Grant No. H 1920–DRC) and Emergency Economic and Social Reunification Support Project (EESRSP) (Credit No 3824–DRC and Grant No H 064–DRC). Washington, DC: World Bank, 2007, p. xxvii.
- 32 The legitimacy of the moratorium has been contested by some who argue that it would only be enforceable once published in the *Government Gazette*, and therefore the 2002 moratorium was, in effect, illegitimate (according to a company representative). Still others argue that the Forest Code replaced the old forest regulations. As the original (2002) moratorium was declared before the adoption of the code, it would have been annulled by the code (according to a government representative).
- 33 World Bank Inspection Panel, op. cit., p. xiii.
- 34 Interview with R Garrique, SODEFOR head office, Kinshasa, 19 February 2009.
- 35 CONGOFUTUR Group website, http://www.congofutur.com, accessed on 12 March 2009.
- 36 Adebu C, 'An analysis of the socio-economic intervention system of forestry companies in the DRC: A case study of TRANS-M in the Equateur and Orientale Provinces', OCEAN Briefing Paper. Kisangani: OCEAN/Netherlands Institute for Southern Africa, 2007, p. 4.
- 37 Interview with F van de Ven, FIB, Kinshasa, 21 October 2008.
- 38 Ibid.
- 39 Ibid.
- 40 Joint press statements of Global Witness, Greenpeace International and Rainforest Foundation, 24 September 2008 and 4 March 2009. See also Greenpeace International, DRC Logging Review: The Carving up of the Congo Continues. Amsterdam: Greenpeace International, October 2008, <http://www.greenpeace.org/international/press/reports/DRC-logging-sector-briefing>.
- 41 Danzer Group, op. cit.
- 42 The FIB was busy compiling information from its members on 18 February 2009.
- 43 Debroux L et al., op. cit. p. 7.
- 44 *Ibid*, p. xii.
- 45 Personal correspondence with Joël Kiyulu, 18 May 2009.
- 46 According to Jason Stearns, senior International Crisis Group (ICG) analyst in charge of

Central Africa, as quoted in IRIN, 'DRC: International support vital to new government', 10 January 2007, http://www.alertnet.org/thenews/newsdesk/IRIN/7c295f5ab8b196dd1622a e152500eeab.htm>.

- 47 Debroux L et al., op. cit., p. ix.
- 48 Including, for instance, Cameroon, Nepal and Honduras; see Brown D et al., op. cit.
- 49 Ibid.
- 50 Stern N, *The Economics of Climate Change: The Stern Review*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2007, p. ix.
- 51 This is a crucial issue, but not the main focus of this report; for more on it, see the following SAIIA publications: Du Preez M, 'Seeing the wood for the trees in the Democratic Republic of Congo', *South African Yearbook of International Affairs 2008/9*. Johannesburg: SAIIA; Du Preez M, 'Seeing REDD: Why the bleeding heart of Africa is also a breathing lung of the world', <http://www.saiia.org.za/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=948:mari-lise-du-preez&catid=63:garp-opinion&Itemid=231>. Also see publications from SAIIA's sister institute, Chatham House, as well as Karsenty A, 'Overview of possible finance mechanisms for alternative forest-use models', *What Does the Future Hold for the Forests in the Democratic Republic of Congo? Innovative Tools and Mechanisms for Sustainable Forest Management Reflection and Discussion Paper*, 1, 2007. Brussels: Belgian Technical Cooperation (BTC CTB), Belgian Development Cooperation, Africa Tervuren, CIFOR & CIRAD, 2007, pp. 46–51.
- 52 Brussels Declaration, 27 February 2007, <http://www.confordrc.org/abstracts/english/day2/ Declaration%20de%20Bruxelles_ENG.pdf>.
- 53 Counsell S, 'Forest governance in the Democratic Republic of Congo: An NGO perspective', FERN, 2006, pp. 16–17.
- 54 See, for instance, ibid., p. 17.
- 55 Ministère de l'Environnement, Conservation de la Nature et Tourisme, Cellule de Coordination PNFoCo, Draft Consolide du Programme National Forêts et Conservation de la Nature. Kinshasa: Ministry of the Environment, Nature Conservation and Tourism (MENCT), January 2009, pp. 1–24.
- 56 This representative is also the one in the MENCT responsible for drafting the Forest Code and the implementation decrees. He explained that the World Bank's idea is to extend the moratorium so as to slow down the granting of new concessions, even as some contest the validity of the moratorium. This reflects a tension even among the main actors involved in the drafting of the legal texts (the Forest Code was drafted with substantial assistance from the World Bank).
- 57 As opposed to the lenses of (1) environmental sustainability (low forest cover, industrialised states, e.g. the UK, the Netherlands, Denmark); (2) sustainable development (high forest cover, industrialised states, e.g. Canada, the US, Australia, Finland, Sweden); or (3) subsistence and poverty reduction (low forest cover, developing states, e.g. India, China, Kenya, Somalia) (Glück P *et al., op. cit.*, pp. 54–55).
- 58 Fédération des Enterprises du Congo, État des lieux de l'economie Congolaise: Problèmes et pistes de solutions pour la relance économique de la République Démocratique du Congo. Kinshasa: Fédération des Enterprises du Congo, March 2007.
- 59 Debroux L et al., op. cit. p. 32.
- 60 Interview with P Cartier, minister counsellor at the Belgian Embassy, Kinshasa, 22 October 2008. He explained that the provinces often view Kinshasa as a 'black hole' where things go in, but nothing ever comes out.

GOVERNANCE OF AFRICA'S RESOURCES PROGRAMME

- 61 Interview with V Vundu, judicial director, MENCT, Kinshasa, 19 January 2009.
- 62 Interview with P Salles, director of the French Development Agency (AFD), DRC, 22 October 2008.
- 63 National Programme for Forests and Conservation (PNFoCo), MENCT, 'Cadre logique', 2009; PNFoCo, 'Note de presentation de la Mission d'Evaluation du PNFoCo', 12 January 2009.
- 64 Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness: Ownership, Harmonisation, Alignment, Results and Mutual Accountability, adopted following a high-level forum, Paris, 28 February–2 March 2005, pp. 1–12, http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/11/41/34428351.pdf>.
- 65 Ibid.
- 66 According to Jason Stearns, senior ICG analyst in charge of Central Africa.
- 67 United Nations (UN) & World Bank, *The DRC's Country Assistance Framework: A 'Big Tent'* Built from 'Big Ideas'? Joint UN–Bank Review of the DRC CAF, 30 May 2008, <http://www. peacekeepingbestpractices.unlb.org/pbps/Library/MONUC_CAF_LL_2008.pdf>.
- 68 *'L'architecture des Groupes Thématiques'*, <http://concertation-education.cd/IMG/pdf/1. Architecture_des_Groupes_thematique_GT_.pdf>.
- 69 The thematic group on mining and hydrocarbons fall under the pro-poor growth pillar; see *ibid*.
- 70 The rest of this paragraph is based largely on interviews with representatives from the development partners (aid agencies/development arms of diplomatic missions) of Belgium, France, the UK and Germany. Most of the representatives are responsible for general development assistance and would thus be able to give an overall impression that is not biased towards one sector (such as forestry).
- 71 See, for instance, Godoy J, 'Development: Aid fragmentation worse despite Paris Declaration', *IPS News*, 10 March 2009.
- 72 Interviews with donor representatives identified, for instance, mining (GT7 on mining and hydrocarbons) and macroeconomic planning and fiscal reform (GT4 on economic governance) as areas in which co-ordination is problematic.
- 73 This was reiterated by the same donor representatives mentioned above.
- 74 This reaffirms the importance of leadership, as identified, for instance, in UN & World Bank, *op. cit.*; see also Grindle MS, 'Good enough governance revisited', *Development Policy Review*, 25, 5, 2007, p. 560.
- 75 Interview with K Lempa, GTZ, Kinshasa, 23 October 2008.
- 76 Identified as important by the UN and the World Bank; see UN & World Bank, op. cit.
- 77 Interview with Victor Kabengele, government official in the MENCT, 17 February 2009.
- 78 Interviews with European development partners, 21–23 October 2008 (Holger Grundell from the UK Department for International Development and Paul Cartier from the Belgian Embassy).
- 79 Interviews with Serge Osudu Omba, Central African Regional Programme for the Environment (CARPE), Patrick Salles (AFD) and others, 20–24 October 2008.
- 80 UN & World Bank, op. cit; 'L'architecture des Groupes Thématiques', op. cit.
- 81 Interviews with donor representatives identified, for instance, mining (GT7 on mining and hydrocarbons) and macroeconomic planning and fiscal reform (GT4 on economic governance) as areas in which co-ordination is problematic.
- 82 Interview with European development partner, 22 October 2008 (Paul Cartier, Belgian Embassy).
- 83 Visseren-Hamakers IJ & P Glasbergen, 'Partnerships in forest governance', Global Environmental

Change, 17, 3-4, 2007, p. 412.

- 84 For an overview of such initiatives, see *ibid*.
- 85 For more, see the Forest Stewardship Concil (FSC), website, <http://www.fsc.org>; see also Visseren-Hamakers IJ & P Glasbergen, *op. cit.*
- 86 For more, see the CARPE website, <http://carpe.umd.edu>.
- 87 Interview with US development partner, 26 February 2009 (John Flynn, head, USAID, DRC).
- 88 CARPE, The Forests of the Congo Basin: A Preliminary Assessment, 2005, p. 6, <http://carpe.umd. edu/resources/Documents/focb_aprelimassess_en.pdf/view>.
- 89 Interview with US development partner, 26 February 2009 (John Flynn, head, USAID, DRC).
- 90 For more, see the Congo Basin Forest Partnership (CBFP) website, http://www.cbfp.org.
- 91 Visseren-Hamakers IJ & P Glasbergen, op. cit., p. 409.
- 92 For more, see Congo Basin Forest Fund website, <http://www.cbf-fund.org/>.
- 93 See, for instance Visseren-Hamakers IJ & P Glasbergen, op. cit. p. 417; Godoy J, op. cit.
- 94 CBFP, The Forests of the Congo Basin: State of the Forest 2006, p. 180, http://www.cbfp.org>.
- 95 Observed during the drive from Mbandaka to Bikoro on 21 February 2009.
- 96 Unconfirmed estimate given in interview with Joël Kiyulu, Kinshasa, 17 February 2009.
- 97 Carroll R, Lac Télé-Lac Tumba Landscape: A Young Program in an Ancient Landscape. World Wide Fund for Nature report, 2008. http://www.worldwildlife.org/what/wherewework/congo/ WWFBinaryitem8795.pdf>.
- 98 Interview with Joël Kiyulu, Bikoro, 21 February 2009.
- 99 Visit to the Bikoro plantation with Sr Constantine Mobuli, 22 February 2009.
- 100 Interviews with Dr R Bongo Tra Bongo and Dr W Wayikua, 22 February 2009.
- 101 CBFP, op.cit., p. 180.
- 102 Ibid.
- 103 For more on the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Strengthening Voices for Better Choices (SVBC) project, see the IUCN SVBC website, <http://www.iucn.org/about/work/programmes/forest/fp_our_work/fp_our_work_thematic/ fp_our_work_flg/fp_forest_law_our_work/fp_forest_law_our_work_ongoing/fp_forest_law_ our_work_strengthening/>.
- 104 IUCN SVBC, 'Strengthening Voices for Better Choices', brochure, <http://cmsdata.iucn.org/ downloads/strengtheningvoicesbrochure.pdf>.
- 105 MENCT, Communique Officiel No 4973/CAB/MIN/ECN-T/15/JEB/2008, Table of Recommendations of the Inter-Ministerial Commission on Conversion of Old Forest Titles, 16 October 2008.
- 106 Interview with V Kabengele, Kinshasa, 17 February 2009.
- 107 Interview with member of Nkalamba community in the area of the LEDYA concession, 21 February 2009.
- 108 Interview with F Mayumbi, LEDYA representative, Bikoro, 21 February 2009.
- 109 *Final Report* of the workshop on the Way Forward in the Post-Forest Title Conversion Process in the DRC, Kinshasa, 4–6 March 2009, p. 6.
- 110 Interview with C. Mobuli, Bikoro, 22 February 2009.
- 111 Interview at ITB head office, Kinshasa, 19 February 2009.
- 112 Interview with Chinese engineer working for TIGO, Mbandaka, 25 February 2009.
- 113 Interviews with the ITB director-general, S Fouad, Kinshasa, 19 February 2009 and an ITB engineer, T Lonpese, Bikoro, 22 February 2009.
- 114 Ibid.

- 115 Interview with the ITB production manager, A Bofoud, Bikoro, 22 February 2009.
- 116 Ibid.
- 117 Interview with S Fouad, Kinshasa, 19 February 2009.
- 118 Interview with R Garrique, SODEFOR, Kinshasa, 19 February 2009.
- 119 Interview with F van de Ven, FIB, Kinshasa, 18 February 2009.
- 120 Interview with F Mayumbi, Bikoro, 21 February 2009.
- 121 ITB's Bikoro operations were criticised for environmentally damaging logging practices and poor community relations in 2006 by a Greenpeace report, which may account for its concern to demonstrate positive change in company practices since then (Greenpeace International, *Carving up the Congo*. Amsterdam: Greenpeace International, April 2007, p. 28).
- 122 Interview with S Fouad, Kinshasa, 19 February 2009.
- 123 Interview with supervisor of forests and lake, Bikoro, 24 February 2009.
- 124 IUCN SVBC, 'Project document, Annex 1: Description of the action', 2004, p. 1.
- 125 Using the International Monetary Fund (IMF) incidence of poverty index as mentioned in the DRC Poverty Reduction and Growth Strategy Paper, June 2006, in *Democratic Republic of the Congo: Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper*, IMF Country Report, 07/330. Washington, DC: IMF, 2006 p. 23.
- 126 Kelsall T, 'Going with the grain in African development?', *Discussion Paper*, 1, Africa Power and Politics Programme. London: ODI, June 2008, p. 13.
- 127 Putzel J, Lindeman S & C Schouten, 'Drivers of change in the Democratic Republic of Congo: The rise and decline of the state and challenges of reconstruction', *Working Paper*, 26, Development as State-Making Programme. London: Crisis States Research Centre, January 2008, p. 42.
- 128 Ibid.
- 129 By this is meant a revolving door between NGOs and political office. This does not imply that the church never aligned itself with power in the country; for a historical overview of the role of the church, see, for instance, Putzel J, Lindeman S & C Schouten, *op. cit.*
- 130 Personal communication with Joël Kiyulu, national co-ordinator, IUCN SVBC, DRC, 2008–09.
- 131 The nuns had the latest editions of *Jeune Afrique*, including the latest February 2009 edition, and other journals in their reading room at the convent.
- 132 Personal communication with Joël Kiyulu, national co-ordinator, IUCN SVBC, DRC, February 2009.
- 133 For more, see the CARPE website, <http://carpe.umd.edu>.
- 134 Debroux L et al., op. cit., pp. 10, 22.
- 135 Committee for Dialogue and Vigilance (CDV) meeting in Bikoro, 23 February 2009.
- 136 Ndoye O & A Awono, The Markets of Non-Timber Forest Products in the Provinces of Equateur and Bandundu. Yaounde: Centre for International Forestry Research (CIFOR) Central Africa Regional Office, 2005, pp. 1–56.
- 137 See, for instance, Mushiete O, 'Tree planting and the Ibi-Batéké Carbon Sink Project: A glimmer of hope for forests in Congo', What Does the Future Hold for the Forests in the Democratic Republic of Congo? Innovative Tools and Mechanisms for Sustainable Forest Management Reflection and Discussion Paper, 1, 2007. Brussels: BTC CTB, Belgian Development Cooperation, Africa Tervuren, CIFOR & CIRAD, 2007, pp. 52–56.
- 138 For a more detailed discussion of these considerations, see Hemmati M, 'How to do it', in Multistakeholder Processes for Governance and Sustainability: Beyond Deadlock and Conflict. London:

Earthscan, 2002, pp. 209–51. Also see, for instance, Skjølsvold TM, 'Institutional conflicts as results of institutional design: Can they be avoided?', paper presented at Governing Shared Resources: Connecting Local Experience to Global Challenges, 12th Biennial Conference of the International Association for the Study of Commons, Cheltenham, 14–18 July 2008, pp. 1–19.

- 139 Interview with F van de Ven, FIB, Kinshasa, 18 February 2009.
- 140 Kelsall T, op. cit., p. 13.
- 141 I.e., to what extent can local level tripartite structures provide a nexus among forest-dependent communities/civil society, government and the private sector to promote better governance of forests and resolve conflict between these actors in the DRC?
- 142 See, for instance, the work of North D (<http://129.3.20.41/eps/eh/papers/9411/9411004. pdf>) and for forestry specifically, Bose P, 'Strengthening institutions: Panacea for tribal forest governance in India', paper presented at Governing Shared Resources: Connecting Local Experience to Global Challenges, 12th Biennial Conference of the International Association for the Study of Commons, Cheltenham, 14-18 July 2008; Gautam AP, 'Integrating spatial technology, local knowledge, and conventional methods in forestry research', paper presented at Survival of the Commons: Mounting Challenges and New Realities, 11th Conference of the International Association for the Study of Common Property, Bali, 19-23 June 2006; Andersson KP & A Agrawal, 'Equity, institutions, and the environment: Socio-economic aspects of local forest governance', paper presented at Survival of the Commons: Mounting Challenges and New Realities, 11th Conference of the International Association for the Study of Common Property, Bali, 19-23 June 2006; Chatre A, 'Forest co-management as if history mattered: The case of western Himalayan forests in India', paper presented at Constituting the Commons: Crafting Sustainable Commons in the New Millennium, 8th Conference of the International Association for the Study of Common Property, Bloomington, 31 May-4 June 2000; Agrawal A & GN Yadama, 'How do social institutions mediate market and population pressures on resources? Forest panchayats in Kumaon India', Development and Change, 28, 1997, pp. 435-65.
- 143 UN Economic Commission for Africa (UNECA), *Relevance of African Traditional Institutions of Governance*, Addis Ababa: UNECA, 2007, p. 2.
- 144 Ibid., p. 10.
- 145 Skjølsvold TM, op. cit.
- 146 Weber B, 'Building good governance from local traditions: Botswana's former president on diamonds and the fight against corruption', *Governance Matters*, 26 August 2008, http://governanceblog.worldbank.org/print/142>.
- 147 UNECA, op. cit.
- 148 Debroux L et al., op. cit., p. 4.
- 149 IUCN SVBC, 'Comité de Dialogue et de Vigilance', descriptive pamphlet.
- 150 See, for instance, UNECA, op. cit.
- 151 Hemmati M, 'The concepts: Key values and ideologies of MSPs', in Multi-stakeholder Processes for Governance and Sustainability: Beyond Deadlock and Conflict. London: Earthscan, 2002, p. 43.
- 152 Braithwaite V, 'Communal and exchange trust norms: Their value base and relevance to institutional trust', in Braithwaite V & M Levi (eds), *Trust and Governance*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1998, p. 52.
- 153 Drahos P, 'When the weak bargain with the strong: Negotiations in the World Trade

Organisation', International Negotiation, 8, 2003, pp. 79-109.

- 154 Braithwaite V, op. cit.
- 155 Hardin R, 'Trust in government', in Braithwaite V & M Levi (eds), *Trust and Governance*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1998.
- 156 Interview with F van de Ven, FIB, Kinshasa, 18 February 2009.
- 157 Ibid.
- 158 For a discussion of some of these ways, see, for instance, Kelsall T, op. cit.; UNECA, op. cit.
- 159 See, for instance, the work done by organisations like ILCCE (*l'Initiative pour un Leadership Cohesive en RDC*) in the DRC.
- 160 This was also affirmed in the presentation by the facilitator of a multi-stakeholder process in a different context, Lindley D, 'The Mondi Wetlands Programme, South Africa', presentation at the Forest Stewardship Council General Assembly, Cape Town, 3–7 November 2008.
- 161 Personal communication with Joël Kiyulu, national co-ordinator, IUCN SVBC, DRC.
- 162 See, for instance, Hemmati M, Multi-stakeholder Processes for Governance and Sustainability: Beyond Deadlock and Conflict. London: Earthscan, 2002; McGee R & A Norton, 'Participation in poverty reduction strategies: A synthesis of experiences with participatory approaches to policy design, implementation and monitoring', Institute of Development Studies Working Paper, 109. Brighton: IDS, 2002; Skjølsvold TM, op. cit.
- 163 The action learning approach was developed by Professor Reg Revans. For a brief description, see http://www.l2manage.com/methods_revans_action_learning.html.
- 164 See, for instance, Anderies JM, Janssen MA & E Ostrom, 'A framework to analyze the robustness of social-ecological systems from an institutional perspective', *Ecology and Society*, 9, 1, 2004; Skjølsvold TM, *op. cit.*
- 165 Anderies JM, Janssen MA & E Ostrom, op. cit.
- 166 IUCN, 'Annex 1: Description of the Action', IUCN SVBC Project Document, 2004, pp. 10, 24–26.
- 167 See, for instance, Oxford Policy Management & IDL Group, 'Annex C: DRC case study', in Evaluation of the Implementation of the Paris Declaration: Thematic Study: The Applicability of the Paris Declaration in Fragile and Conflict-affected Situations. London: Department For International Development (DFID), August 2008, <http://www.dfid.gov.uk/Documents/ publications/evaluation/Paris-Dec-Fragile-Conflict-Situ.pdf>; Schulz N, 'International division of labour: A test case for the partnership paradigm: Analytical framework and methodology for country studies', Working Paper, 79. Madrid: FRIDE, 2009.
- 168 See, for instance, Glück P et. al., op. cit., pp. 54-55.
- 169 Again, see, Schulz N, op. cit.; Oxford Policy Management & IDL Group, op. cit.
- 170 As defined in Visseren-Hamakers IJ & P Glasbergen, op. cit.
- 171 For example, the decentralisation law adopted by the National Assembly in January 2007 and Law No 08/012, dated 31 July 2008, which sets out the relationship between the centre and the provinces. See also, for instance, Young E, 'DRC National Assembly adopts decentralisation law', MONUC, 2008, <http://www.reliefweb.int/rw/RWB.NSF/db900SID/ EGUA-7AURL6?OpenDocument>.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adebu C, 'An analysis of the socio-economic intervention system of forestry companies in the DRC: A case study of TRANS-M in the Equateur and Orientale Provinces', OCEAN Briefing Paper. Kisangani: OCEAN/Netherlands Institute for Southern Africa, 2007.
- Agrawal A & GN Yadama, 'How do social institutions mediate market and population pressures on resources? Forest panchayats in Kumaon India', *Development and Change*, 28, 1997.
- Anderies JM, Janssen MA & E Ostrom, 'A framework to analyze the robustness of socialecological systems from an institutional perspective', *Ecology and Society*, 9, 1, 2004.
- Andersson KP & A Agrawal, 'Equity, institutions, and the environment: Socioeconomic aspects of local forest governance', paper presented at Survival of the Commons: Mounting Challenges and New Realities, 11th Conference of the International Association for the Study of Common Property, Bali, 19–23 June 2006.
- Armitage D, 'Governance and the commons in a multi-level world', *International Journal of the Commons*, 2, 1, January 2008.
- Baker M, Clausen R, N'Goma M, Roule T & J Thomson, *Conflict Timber: Dimensions of the Problem in Asia and Africa, DR Congo*, 3, ARD final report submitted to USAID, 2003.
- Basurto X & E Ostrom, 'Beyond the tragedy of the commons', Social Science Research Network Working Paper Series, 31 October 2008, <http://ssrn.com/abstract=1304688>.
- Bose P, 'Strengthening institutions: Panacea for tribal forest governance in India', paper presented at Governing Shared Resources: Connecting Local Experience to Global Challenges, 12th Biennial Conference of the International Association for the Study of Commons, Cheltenham, 14–18 July 2008.
- Braithwaite V, 'Communal and exchange trust norms: Their value base and relevance to institutional trust', in Braithwaite V & M Levi (eds), *Trust and Governance*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1998.
- Brown D, Schreckenberg K, Sheperd G & A Wells, 'Forestry as an entry-point for governance reform', *ODI Forestry Briefing*, 1, London: ODI, April 2002.
- Brussels Declaration, 27 February 2007, <http://www.confordrc.org/abstracts/english/day2/ Declaration%20de%20Bruxelles_ENG.pdf>.

- CARPE (Central African Regional Programme for the Environment), The Forests of the Congo Basin: A Preliminary Assessment, 2005. http://carpe.umd.edu/resources/ Documents/focb_aprelimassess_en.pdf/view>.
- Carroll R, Lac Télé-Lac Tumba Landscape: A Young Program in an Ancient Landscape. World Wide Fund for Nature report, 2008, <http://www.worldwildlife.org/what/wherewework/ congo/WWFBinaryitem8795.pdf>.
- CBFP (Congo Basin Forest Partnership), *The Forests of the Congo Basin: State of the Forest 2006*, <http://www.cbfp.org>.
- Chatre A, 'Forest co-management as if history mattered: The case of western Himalayan forests in India', paper presented at Constituting the Commons: Crafting Sustainable Commons in the New Millennium, 8th Conference of the International Association for the Study of Common Property, Bloomington, 31 May–4 June 2000.
- CIM (Inter-Ministerial Commission for the Conversion of Old Forest Titles), Communiqué Officiel No. 4973/CAB/MIN/ECN-T/15/JEB/2008, 2008, http://www.congofutur.com.
- CIM (Inter-Ministerial Commission for the Conversion of Old Forest Titles), *Rapport de l'OI sur les travaux de la CIM: Examen des recours*. Kinshasha: CIM, 14 January 2009.
- Counsell S, 'Forest governance in the Democratic Republic of Congo: An NGO perspective', *FERN*, 2006, pp.16–17.
- Debroux L, Hart T, Kaimowitz D, Karsenty A & G Topa (eds), Forests in Post-Conflict Democratic Republic of Congo: Analysis of a Priority Agenda, joint World Bank et al. report. Jakarta: CIFOR, 2007.
- Draulans, D & E van Krunkelsven, 'The impacts of war on forest areas in the Democratic Republic of Congo', *Oryx*, 36, 1, 2002, p.38.
- Du Preez M, 'Seeing the wood for the trees in the Democratic Republic of Congo', in *South African Yearbook of International Affairs 2008/9*. Johannesburg: SAIIA.
- Du Preez M, 'Seeing REDD: Why the bleeding heart of Africa is also a breathing lung of the world', <http://www.saiia.org.za/index.php?option=com_content&view=article& id=948:mari-lise-du-preez&catid=63:garp-opinion&Itemid=231>.
- Fédération des Enterprises du Congo, État des lieux de l'economie Congolaise: Problèmes et pistes de solutions pour la relance économique de la République Démocratique du Congo. Kinshasa: Fédération des Enterprises du Congo, March 2007.
- *Final Report* of the Workshop on the Way forward in the Post-Forest Title Conversion Process in the DRC, Kinshasa, 4–6 March 2009.

- Gautam AP, 'Integrating spatial technology, local knowledge, and conventional methods in forestry research', paper presented at Survival of the Commons: Mounting Challenges and New Realities, 11th Conference of the International Association for the Study of Common Property, Bali, 19–23 June 2006.
- Glück P, Rayner J, Cashore B, Agrawal A, Bernstein S, Capistrano D, Hogl K, Liss BM, McDermott C, Maini JS, Oksanen T, Ollonqvist P, Pülzl H, Rametsteiner E & W Pleschberger, 'Changes in the governance of forest resources', in Mery G, Alfaro R, Kanninen M & M Lobovikov (eds), Forests in the Global Balance: Changing Paradigms, IUFRO World Series, 17. Helsinki: International Union of Forest Research Organizations, 2005.
- Godoy J, 'Development: Aid fragmentation worse despite Paris Declaration', *IPS News*, 10 March 2009.
- Greenpeace International, *Carving up the Congo*. Amsterdam: Greenpeace International, April 2007.
- Greenpeace International, DRC Logging Review: The Carving up of the Congo Continues. Amsterdam: Greenpeace International, October 2008, http://www.greenpeace.org/international/press/reports/DRC-logging-sector-briefing>.
- Grindle MS, 'Good enough governance revisited', *Development Policy Review*, 25, 5, 2007.
- Hardin G, 'The tragedy of the commons', Science, 162, 3859, 1968.
- Hardin R, 'Trust in government', in Braithwaite V & M Levi (eds), *Trust and Governance*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1998.
- Hemmati M, 'How to do it', in *Multi-stakeholder Processes for Governance and Sustainability: Beyond Deadlock and Conflict.* London: Earthscan, 2002.
- Hemmati M, 'The concepts: Key values and ideologies of MSPs', in Multi-stakeholder Processes for Governance and Sustainability: Beyond Deadlock and Conflict. London: Earthscan, 2002.
- IMF (International Monetary Fund), Democratic Republic of the Congo: Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper, IMF Country Report, 07/330. Washington, DC: IMF, 2006.
- IRIN, 'DRC: International support vital to new government', 10 January 2007, <http://www.alertnet.org/thenews/newsdesk/IRIN/7c295f5ab8b196dd1622ae152500eeab.htm>.
- ITTO (International Tropical Timber Organisation), Annual Review and Assessment of the World Timber Situation 2007, http://www.itto.int>.

- IUCN (International Union for the Conservation of Nature), 'Annex 1: Description of the Action', *IUCN SVBC Project Document*, 2004.
- IUCN SVBC (International Union for the Conservation of Nature, Strengthening Voices for Better Choices), 'Strengthening Voices for Better Choices', brochure, http://cmsdata.iucn.org/downloads/strengtheningvoicesbrochure.pdf>.
- Karsenty A, 'Overview of possible finance mechanisms for alternative forest-use models', What Does the Future Hold for the Forests in the Democratic Republic of Congo? Innovative Tools and Mechanisms for Sustainable Forest Management Reflection and Discussion Paper, 1, 2007. Brussels: Belgian Technical Cooperation (BTC CTB), Belgian Development Co-operation, Africa Tervuren, CIFOR & CIRAD, 2007.
- Kelsall T, 'Going with the grain in African development?', *Discussion Paper*, 1, Africa Power and Politics Programme. London: ODI, June 2008.
- Laking R, 'The role of network governance in local government strategic decision-making: A note', paper presented to the Local Futures Programme at the School of Government, Victoria University of Wellington, December 2005, <http://www.vuw.ac.nz/staff/ rob_laking/Papers/LocalFutures/Local%20Government%20and%20network%20 governance.pdf>.
- *'L'architecture des Groupes Thématiques*', <http://concertation-education.cd/IMG/pdf/1. Architecture_des_Groupes_thematique_GT_.pdf>.
- McGee R & A Norton, 'Participation in poverty reduction strategies: A synthesis of experiences with participatory approaches to policy design, implementation and monitoring', *Institute of Development Studies Working Paper*, 109. Brighton: IDS, 2002.
- Meisel W & J Ould Aoudia, 'Is "good governance" a good development strategy?', *AFD Working Paper*, 58. Paris: Agence Française de Développement, January 2008.
- MENCT (Ministry of the Environment, Nature Conservation and Tourism), Communiqué Officiel No. 4973/CAB/MIN/ECN-T/15/JEB/2008, Table of Recommendations of the Inter-Ministerial Commission on Conversion of Old Forest Titles, 16 October 2008.
- Ministère de l'Environnement, Conservation de la Nature et Tourisme, Cellule de Coordination PNFoCo, Draft Consolide du Programme National Forêts et Conservation de la Nature. Kinshasa: MENCT, January 2009.
- Mushiete O, 'Tree planting and the Ibi-Batéké Carbon Sink Project: A glimmer of hope for forests in Congo', What Does the Future Hold for the Forests in the Democratic Republic of Congo? Innovative Tools and Mechanisms for Sustainable Forest Management Reflection and Discussion Paper, 1, 2007. Brussels: BTC CTB, Belgian Development Co-operation, Africa Tervuren, CIFOR & CIRAD, 2007.

- Ndoye O & A Awono, The Markets of Non-Timber Forest Products in the Provinces of Equateur and Bandundu. Yaounde: CIFOR Central Africa Regional Office, 2005.
- Ostrom, E & CB Field, 'Revisiting the commons: Local lessons, global challenges', *Science*, 284, 5412, 1999.
- Oxford Policy Management & IDL Group, 'Annex C: DRC case study', in Evaluation of the Implementation of the Paris Declaration: Thematic Study: The Applicability of the Paris Declaration in Fragile and Conflict-affected Situations. London: DFID, August 2008.
- Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness: Ownership, Harmonisation, Alignment, Results and Mutual Accountability, adopted following a high-level forum, Paris, 28 February– 2 March 2005, http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/11/41/34428351.pdf>.
- PNFoCo (National Programme for Forests and Conservation), MENCT, 'Cadre logique', 2009.
- PNFoCo (National Programme for Forests and Conservation), MENCT, '*Note de presentation de la Mission d'Evaluation du PNFoCo*', 12 January 2009.
- Popescu LG, 'Structural dynamic of the public sector and multilevel governance: Between hierarchies, market and network forms', 2005, http://egpa2007.inap.map.es/egpa2007/workshops/SGV/SG5%20Popescu.pdf>.
- Putzel J, S Lindeman & C Schouten, 'Drivers of change in the Democratic Republic of Congo: The rise and decline of the state and challenges of reconstruction', *Working Paper*, 26, Development as State-Making Programme. London: Crisis States Research Centre, January 2008.
- Schneider V & JM Bauer, 'Governance: Prospects of complexity theory in revisiting system theory', paper presented at the annual meeting of the Midwest Political Science Association, Panel 33.26: Political Theory and Theories of Political Science, 2007.
- Schulz N, 'International division of labour: A test case for the partnership paradigm: Analytical framework and methodology for country studies', Working Paper, 79. Madrid: FRIDE, 2009.
- Scott J, Seeing Like a State: How Certain Schemes to Improve the Human Condition Have Failed. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1998.
- Skjølsvold TM, 'Institutional conflicts as results of institutional design: Can they be avoided?', paper presented at Governing Shared Resources: Connecting Local Experience to Global Challenges, 12th Biennial Conference of the International Association for the Study of Commons, Cheltenham, 14–18 July 2008.

- Stern N, The Economics of Climate Change: The Stern Review. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2007.
- UN & World Bank, The DRC's Country Assistance Framework: A 'Big Tent' Built from 'Big Ideas'? Joint UN–Bank Review of the DRC CAF, 30 May 2008, <http://www.peacekeepingbestpractices.unlb.org/pbps/Library/MONUC_CAF_LL_2008.pdf>.
- UNECA (UN Economic Commission for Africa), Relevance of African Traditional Institutions of Governance. Addis Ababa: UNECA, 2007.
- Visseren-Hamakers IJ & P Glasbergen, 'Partnerships in forest governance', *Global Environmental Change*, 17, 3–4, 2007.
- Weber B, 'Building good governance from local traditions: Botswana's former president on diamonds and the fight against corruption', *Governance Matters*, 26 August 2008, http://governanceblog.worldbank.org/print/142>.
- World Bank Inspection Panel, Investigation Report No. 40746ZR on the Democratic Republic of the Congo: Transitional Support for Economic Recovery Grant (TSERO) (IDA Grant No. H 1920-DRC) and Emergency Economic and Social Reunification Support Project (EESRSP) (Credit No. 3824-DRC and Grant No. H 064-DRC). Washington, DC: World Bank, 2007.
- Young E, 'DRC National Assembly adopts decentralisation law', MONUC, 2008, <http:// www.reliefweb.int/rw/RWB.NSF/db900SID/EGUA-7AURL6?OpenDocument>.

SAIIA'S FUNDING PROFILE

SAIIA raises funds from governments, charitable foundations, companies and individual donors. Our work is currently being co-funded by AusAid, the Bradlow Foundation, the Department of International Development (DFID), the Deutsche Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ), the European Commission, the Finnish Ministry for Foreign Affairs, the Ford-Foundation, the Friederich Ebert Stiftung (FES), the Graduate Institute of International Studies (GIIS), the International Development Research Centre (IDRC), the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD), INWENT, the Konrad Adenauer Foundation, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), the Royal Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Royal Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Royal Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the South Centre, the Swedish International Development Agency (SIDA), the Sustainable Development Policy Institute (SDPI), the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), the United Nations International Research & Training Institute for the Advancement of Women (INSTRAW), the South African Department of Foreign Affairs, Trade and Industrial Policy Strategies (TIPS), the Department of Environmental Affairs (DEAT) of South Africa and the South African Revenue Service (SARS).

In addition SAIIA has 49 corporate members which are mainly drawn from the South African private sector and international businesses with an interest in Africa and a further 53 diplomatic and 11 institutional members.

